
20
21

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t -
 M

ed
ic

al
 D

is
po

sa
bl

es
 &

 S
up

pl
ie

s 
Li

m
ite

d

1

RESILIENCE
2021 ANNUAL REPORT



20
21

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t -
 M

ed
ic

al
 D

is
po

sa
bl

es
 &

 S
up

pl
ie

s 
Li

m
ite

d

2

VISION
MISSION
VALUES

To be the most customer-centric and profitable 
distributor in the Caribbean region.

BEAT THE BEST!

Delighted Customers
Fulfilled Employees

Premium Service

Quality Assurance
Social Responsibility
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MDS is an island-wide distributor of healthcare and consumer 

products with a catalogue spanning pharmaceuticals, vaccines, 

injectables, hospital supplies, medical disposable items, 

consumer products and beauty items. 

We actively ensure that the brands we represent are on the 

shelves of health and personal care providers and resellers but 

also facilitate ‘walk-in’ clients. 

We exist to provide an unparalleled experience in every 

aspect of our customer interaction and a world-class offering 

that will better the lives of our partners, our work family, our 

shareholders and the communities we serve.
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This year, as we stepped inside the 
ring, matched with the unex-
pected heavyweight of Covid-19, 

we fought for survival, we fought to 
retain all our staff members, we fought 
against limited operational hours to 
ensure continual supply of essential 
goods to the health sector in our quest 
to preserve lives. 

While Personal Protective Equipment 
(PPE’s) were the requisite suit of armour 
for healthcare workers and the wider 
public, the tension in the corporate 
arena also found us adding gear of 
a different kind - a pair of proverbial 
boxing gloves - for the imminent battle. 
In the unfolding crisis of the pandemic, 
many businesses were hard-hit and 
shaken to the core by the unexpected. 
The extended lockdowns, the shipment 
delays, the sharp increases in worldwide 
prices of imports, the foreign exchange 
volatility, and product shortages were 
but a few of the challenges presented 
which required us to bob and weave 
through what has felt like a full gruelling 
12-round showdown with no luxury of 
stoppage time. Business survival has 
required us to go the distance.

The invisible threat left (and continues 
to leave) immense devastation in its 
wake but it has also brought with it very 
visible changes. It has contested how 
we do business and ‘virtually’ chal-
lenged procedures that were previously 
thought to be impractical. It helped 
us to rationalise what to hold on to 
and what to let go. Through the very 
fractured lines there have been rays of 
opportunities and possibilities. 

As we continue to navigate the world’s 
greatest disruptor, the coronavirus, and 

its effects on our daily lives, it is quite 
apparent that we are living through a 
very unique period in history that few 
could have predicted. Our hospitals, 
the health care system and essential 
workers reached breaking points due 
to the immense strain. Millions of jobs 
have been lost, families have struggled 
to keep the roof over their heads and 
the wave of grief that has swept over 
nations across the globe has been 
unimaginable. The hard-hitting year has 
shaken us all to the core, with pow-
erful bouts of devastation that have 
impacted lives and livelihood, leaving 
many down for the count from a brutal 
economic knockout. 

Our legacy has always been rooted 
in the spirit of overcoming. And that 
training ground has equipped us with 
some very useful tools in this ring - 
fighting fit at strategic pace, an agility 
to quickly shift strategies in response 
to changes in the operating environ-
ment, being quick on our feet (and 
sometimes seemingly slow to react), 
being flexible in light of technology 
and exercising the discipline in being 
lean. Execution of these have left us 
poised for long-term recovery and a 
healthier and stronger emergence.

Living with the pandemic has become 
the new normal. It has made the world 
stand at attention and realise that 
health is our greatest asset and the 
cornerstone of prosperity. It has also 
confirmed two things that we instinc-
tively always knew:

We are essential. 
And we are …Resilient!

Going the Distance...
Company highlights
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Change is the Heartbeat of Growth

special message

An important part of operating a business is creating and 
implementing a proactive succession plan to pave the way 
for changes in leadership that will ensure continuity and, in 
this case, what we hope to be a formidable legacy through 
MDS.

Birthing and nurturing MDS has been both difficult and 
rewarding and I could not be more proud of what my team 
and I have built together. But, there is more building to do 
and, if we lean to wisdom, we have to acknowledge when 
the time is right to gracefully bow (or curtsy) to strategic 
change.

As MDS embarks on its 21st year, it is only fitting to enter 
into official adulthood with necessary and welcomed trans-
formational shifts in order to future proof the Company and 
leave the team well-positioned to ‘Beat the Best’.

As at November 1, 2020, I vacated the role of Managing 
Director and passed the torch to Kurt Boothe. I am not only 
proud because he is my son, but because I believe him to be 
one of the best business minds that I have had the privilege 
of knowing.

I will be continuing as a member of the Board in the role of 
Executive Director, strategically serving as a resource to the 

current Management Team and providing tactical oversight 
to further develop the Company’s Medical Division.

Holding the reins is Kurt Boothe, who has transitioned 
from the role of General Manager to that of Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO). I have unshakeable confidence that I could 
not have found more suited hands in whose care to entrust 
this brand.

It is my belief that we have one of the best teams and 
brands in the island to whom I am thankful for all their hard 
work, dedicated service and help in doing so in fine ‘Busi-
ness Unusual’ style. Yes, change is inevitable, but there is 
one thing about this brand that must always remain stead-
fast and true: to always maintain the principle on which we 
have operated, and which has served the MDS spirit well – 
‘Taking Care’ in everything we do. 

Sincerely,

Myrtis Boothe 
Executive Director

‘Change’ would undoubtedly be one of the most frequently cited themes that reverberated 
throughout the course of last year.  All of us, bar none, experienced shifts of one kind or 
another – both personally and professionally.  We, at MDS, had quite a few of our own. 
Changes on the business front, however difficult at times, are needed for rebirth, to move 
forward, to change gears and for brand preservation, continuation, and legacy. 
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The Financial Year ended March 31, 2021, was 
a year of extraordinary challenges as the full 
impact of the Global COVID 19 Pandemic on 

the Jamaican Economy became evident. 

The continued volatility in the exchange rate of 
the Jamaican dollar in relation to its United 
States counterpart, the reduction in 
government expenditure and the com-
bined effect on aggregate demand, all 
contributed to the economic envi-
ronment which prevailed during the 
period under review. 

Notwithstanding these adverse 
conditions which mainly affected 
the first two quarters of the financial 
year, the Company ended the year 
with mixed financial results. 

CHAIRMAn'S STATEMENT

REVENUES recorded for the 
period under review was $2.42 
billion a marginal reduction 
of $ 58.3 million or 2.4% when 
compared to the previous year.

GROSS PROFIT increased by  
$40 million or 7.1% totaling 
$598.9 million in 2021 compared 
to $558.9 million in 2020. 

highlights



20
21

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t -
 M

ed
ic

al
 D

is
po

sa
bl

es
 &

 S
up

pl
ie

s 
Li

m
ite

d

9

As we go forward into the new financial year, we will 
continue to explore opportunities to widen our product 
range, particularly in the Medical and Consumer Divisions, 
in keeping with our business strategy. 

Additionally, it is of great importance for the Company 
to focus attention on its cost reduction and cost man-
agement efforts. At the same time, it is expected that the 
recent acquisition of a related business activity will not 
only allow for the increase in overall growth in our busi-
ness operations, but will also strengthen and consolidate 
our position in the Medical and Health Sector. 

We maintain a positive outlook for the year ahead, despite 
the current challenges which we face but wish once again 
to recommit ourselves to maintaining a high standard of 
financial performance, to improving our operational effi-
ciency, as well as to increase shareholder value by provid-
ing an appropriate return on investment. 

As we complete another year of operation, I use this 
opportunity on behalf of the Board of Directors to express 
our appreciation to the members of the MDS team for their 
commitment and dedication, and to our customers for 
their loyalty and continued support during the year. 

Finally, I wish to thank the members of the Board of Direc-
tors for their stewardship and guidance in the transition 
from a family operated business enterprise to a more 
formal corporate culture and the adoption of a robust 
Corporate Governance Structure. 

 

Winston Boothe
Chairman

TOTAL EXPENSES rose by 9.86 % to close 
the year at $590.8 million compared to 
$523.4 million in 2020.

This increase reflects expenses relating to: 

i.  The acquisition of an existing business 
operation. 

ii.  One off initial costs to establish new 
banking arrangements in place of the 
previous arrangement.

iii. Foreign exchange losses amounting 
to $11 million resulting from exchange 
rate fluctuations in the foreign 
exchange market. 

GAIN ARISING ON BUSINESS 
ACQUISITION amounting to 
$62.08 million.

NET PROFIT AFTER TAX  
was $69.6 million compared to  
$34.6 million in the previous year. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE  
of 0.26 cents compares with 
0.13 cents in the previous year.

THE YEAR AHEAD…
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“We continue to channel 
our efforts to emerge 

from the pandemic 
stronger than the  

force of its impact.”
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This year I began the journey as the CEO of MDS.  
The initial impact seemed somewhat benign, 
knowing that the succession plan effected the 

transition over a decade ago. This set the stage for me to 
perform my daily tasks to fulfil the requirements of the 
role. The foresight with which this foundation was laid 
allowed for the seamless transition.

On a personal note, I have embraced the challenge 
with the goal of exceeding expectations. My mission 
is to ensure that there is a common vision. One which 
includes all stakeholders moving upward and forward. 
A vision that is growth-oriented over the long term, as 
opposed to result angled, to meet quarterly deadlines. 
MDS will continue the drive to “Beat the Best”. We will 
do so with every product line, every pharmacy, hospital, 
medical customer, supermarket, haberdashery, whole-
sale, beauty store, stall operator and every individual 
that patronises our engine of a company.

The dream never sleeps! 

As we emerge from what could be considered an unprec-
edented year of continuous change and alignment, we 
continue to channel our efforts to emerge from the pan-
demic stronger than the force of its impact. And, as we 
look ahead, we continue to align our business strategies 
with the changing times and remain optimistic that we 
are headed in the right direction. 

As we transition, we recognise and commend the team 
of Cornwall Medical and Dental Supplies Limited, as 
they also exhibited measured foresight for succession 
planning - shifting from our friendly rivals to business 
partners through an acquisition deal in which we hold 
a 60% stake in our newly formed subsidiary, Cornwall 
Enterprises Limited.

Together, with our existing team, and our new partners, 
we set the path of sustainable growth in unison with a 
purpose-driven goal of maintaining the push to mod-
ernise the organisation with a customer-centric focus 
to surpass the status quo. Our business-as-usual focus 
continues to be ‘Business Unusual’. 

This year, I extend immense gratitude for being ‘we’ as 
our journey continues in visualising, not necessarily be-
ing the biggest, but rather, being the best at any level.

In the words of Muhammad Ali, “ME. We.”

The word is love. 

  
 
 

Kurt Boothe 
Chief Executive Officer

Setting the path for sustainable growth

CEO'S STATEMENT
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'fight  
the 

good  
fight

of 
faith'

1 Timothy 6:12
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Notice is hereby given that the Eighth Annual General Meeting of Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited (the 
“Company”) will be held virtually on Tuesday, October 05, 2021 at 10:00 a.m. in accordance with an Order of the 
Supreme Court of Judicature of Jamaica dated the 31st of May, 2021, to consider, and if thought fit, pass the 
following Resolutions:

1. RECEIPT OF AUDITED ACCOUNTS

To receive the Audited Accounts for the financial year of the 
Company ended March 31, 2021, together with the Reports 
of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

Ordinary Resolution No. 1
“That the Audited Accounts for the financial year of 
the Company ended March 31, 2021, together with the 
Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon be and 
are hereby adopted”.

2. RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS BY  
     ROTATION AND RE-APPOINTMENT

THAT the following Directors of the Board who, being the 
longest serving have retired by rotation prior to the reading 
of the resolution in accordance with the Articles of Incorpo-
ration of the Company, and, being eligible, have consented 
to be re-appointed and to act on re-appointment: 

Ordinary Resolution No. 2
“That Mr. Kurt Boothe be and is hereby re-elected a 
Director of the Company for the ensuing Year”.

Ordinary Resolution No. 3
“That Miss Nikeisha Boothe be and is hereby re-elected 
a Director of the Company for the ensuing Year”.

3. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

To authorise the Board of Directors to fix the remuneration 
of Directors.

Ordinary Resolution No. 4
“That the amount shown in the Audited Accounts for 
the year ended March 31, 2021 as fees to the Directors 
for services as Directors, be and is hereby approved”.

4. RE-APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION  
     OF AUDITORS 

To appoint the Auditors and authorise the Board of Direc-
tors to fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

Ordinary Resolution No. 5
“That HLB Mair Russell was selected by way of tender 
and having consented to continue as the Auditors of the 
Company be and are hereby appointed Auditors of the 
Company to hold office until the next Annual General 
Meeting at a remuneration to be fixed by the Directors 
of the Company”.

5. OTHER ROUTINE BUSINESS

To deal with any other business that is considered routine 
and appropriate for the Annual General Meeting.

Ordinary Resolution No. 6
“To transact any other ordinary business of the Compa-
ny that can be transacted at an Annual General Meeting’.

 

Dated this 17th day of July, 2021

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD 

 

Nikeisha Boothe 
Company Secretary

NOTE: A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
A form of proxy is enclosed and if it is used it should be completed in accordance with the instructions on the form and returned so as to reach the Company’s 
Registrar at the address shown on the form not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time fixed for the meeting.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS

The ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF MEDICAL DISPOSABLES & SUPPLIES LIMITED (MDS) will be held 
virtually pursuant to Supreme Court Order dated the 31st of May 2021 in the matter SU 2021 CD 00196.

1. Attendance at the AGM

In light of the Government’s established Covid-19 protocols, the AGM will be held virtually, allowing sharehold-
ers to participate in a manner similar to face-to-face meetings. Shareholders will not have a physical venue to 
attend this year’s meeting.

2. Voting at the AGM

Shareholders of the Company who wish to observe / participate in the proceedings may watch the AGM  
remotely via live-stream which can be accessed at: mds.iteneri.com

Shareholders can register to join the meeting using their name, email and Jamaica Central Securities Deposi-
tory (JCSD) member number. If you are unsure of your member number, please contact the JCSD or your stock 
broker. The live stream site FAQ will also offer guidance for shareholders on how to access the meeting.

3. Shareholders Unable to Attend / Participate in the Meeting

As a Shareholder you  may appoint a Proxy to participate and vote at the meeting in your stead. A Proxy need 
not be a member of the Company.

A Proxy Form is enclosed for your convenience. Proxy Forms should be completed and submitted to the Com-
pany Secretary at nboothe@mdsja.com no later than Friday, October 1, 2021 at 3 p.m.

4. Questions

Shareholders are encouraged to submit their questions prior to the AGM by sending an email to  
AGMQuestions@mdsja.com.

Questions will be addressed during the AGM as deemed reasonably practicable in the Chairman’s discretion.
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The
board of

DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors 

has a complementary 

range of experiences, 

expertise and key 

competencies in a diverse 

range of business areas 

to contribute to the 

growth and development 

of the Company. 
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MR. WINSTON BOOTHE
Chairman

Independent Member of the Compensation & 
Human Resources Committee and the Audit & 
Compliance Committee

For nearly two decades, until September 2013, 
Mr. Winston Boothe served in the capacity of 
Senior Vice President of the Port Authority of 
Jamaica (PAJ) in the areas of Corporate Planning 
& Information Systems, Finance & Adminis-
tration and Operations. With over 50 years of 
experience as a corporate executive, Mr. Boothe 
offers an expansive business network. He has 
served as director of the Petroleum Company of 
Jamaica, the Port Authority of Jamaica, Jamaica 
International Free Zone Development Limit-
ed, Kingston Freezone Limited, Master Blend 
Feeds, Montego Bay Freezone Limited, and the 
Wortley Home for Girls. He has also held the 
post of Group VP of the Jamaica Broilers Group 
of Companies.

Mr. Boothe is an honours graduate of the Uni-
versity of the West Indies with a Bachelor’s De-
gree in Economics and Business Administration.

DR. THE HON. VINCENT 
LAWRENCE, O.J.
Non-Executive, Independent Director

Independent Chairman of the Compensation 
& Human Resources Committee and Inde-
pendent Member of the Audit & Compliance 
Committee

During his over 50 years of experience as a 
civil and geotechnical engineer, Dr. Vincent 
Lawrence has been widely recognised as a 
skilled negotiator who has played a pivotal 
role in the engineering community and has 
exhibited a strong commitment to national 
service. Dr. Lawrence is currently the Ex-
ecutive Chairman of JenTech Consultants 
Limited and member of the Incorporated Lay 
Body & the Diocesan Financial Board of the 
Diocese of Jamaica and the Cayman Islands.

Dr. Lawrence holds a Bachelor of Science 
Degree with honours from the University of 
the West Indies and earned his Doctorate in 
1971 from Queen’s University, Canada.

directors
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MRS. SANDA GLASGOW
Non-Executive, Independent Director

Chairman of the Audit & Compliance Commit-
tee, Independent Member of the Compensation 
& Human Resources Committee and Mentor to 
the Board

Mrs. Glasgow, founder and Managing Director 
of BizTactics Limited, has played an integral 
role in supporting improvements in the Com-
pany’s Corporate Governance frameworks and 
processes. A certified director, trainer in corpo-
rate governance board leadership and mentor, 
Mrs. Glasgow sits on the Boards of Directors of 
four JSE listed companies, private companies 
and not-for-profits. She is the past CEO of the 
Private Sector Organisation of Jamaica where 
she served for over five years. She spent two 
decades at the University of Technology where 
she founded the Technology Innovation Centre 
and capped her distinguished career as Senior 
Vice President of Corporate Services.

Mrs. Glasgow is the recipient of two degrees 
from the University of the West Indies – a Bach-
elor of Science with majors in Zoology and 
Applied Science and an M.B.A.

DR. DAHLIA McDANIEL DICKSON
Non-Executive, Independent Director

Independent Member of the Audit & Compli-
ance Committee and the Compensation & 
Human Resources Committee

Dr. McDaniel Dickson adds an essential di-
mension to the MDS Board through her strong 
command of the pharmaceutical industry from 
both academia and business perspectives. As 
a registered pharmacist for over 30 years, her 
contagious fervour for the discipline helps to 
ensure output of the highest standard with 
an outlook supported by intelligent industry 
specific applications. She holds a Doctorate 
in Public Health from the University of Lon-
don and owns two thriving pharmacies and a 
medical clinic.



MYRTIS BOOTHE
Executive Director & Founder

With over 50 years of passionate and extensive medical ex-
perience, Mrs. Boothe has provided invaluable contributions 
to the Company through her immense product knowledge, 
first-hand understanding of the inner workings of health 
institutions, expansive industry network and keen dedica-
tion to providing service excellence in patient care. A Regis-

tered Nurse by profession with training from the University 
Hospital of the West Indies, Mrs. Boothe has practised at the 
National Chest Hospital as Ward Administrator, served as an 
In-service Education Officer and Nursing Tutor at the Minis-
try of Health and honed her business instincts through an 
11-year management career at one of the country’s leading 
distribution companies in the industry before forming the 
MDS operation (in 1998) – where she has been successfully 
leading the charge ever since.

directors
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KURT BOOTHE
Executive Director

Chief Executive Officer

Kurt Boothe joined the Company in 2006 after 
residing in Florida for over a decade. Mr. Boothe’s 
financial acumen, intimate familiarity with global 
best practices and openness to the application of 
modern solutions to business challenges are wel-
comed additions to the skill sets of the Company. 
While in Florida, as part of the American Express 
Financial Advisors Team and as Portfolio Admin-
istrator with the Private Client Group of Franklin 
Templeton Investments Inc., Mr. Boothe developed 
his proficiency in finance. He also spent time in 
property valuation consulting services and inde-
pendent real estate investments after receiving his 
MBA from the Wayne Huizenga School of Business 
at Nova Southeastern University in Fort Lauderdale, 
Florida. He is a past Non-Executive Director of the 
Petroleum Company of Jamaica and volunteers his 
time as a football manager and mentor to young 
boys at the secondary level.

He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Adminis-
tration and an MBA with concentration in Entrepre-
neurship, Wayne Huizenga School of Business at 
Nova Southeastern University in Fort Lauderdale, 
Florida.

NIKEISHA BOOTHE
Executive Director

Business Development and Corporate Affairs  
Manager & Company Secretary

In 2012, Nikeisha Boothe joined the Company after 
performing roles as Marketing Executive at Dunlop 
Corbin Communications – a full-service marketing 
and advertising agency – and Brand Manager at 
Restaurant Associates Limited (franchise holders for 
Popeyes and Burger King in Jamaica). These have 
provided her with an in-depth knowledge of ad-
vertising, media, production, public relations, event 
planning, consumer behaviour, budget manage-
ment and financial marketing. Miss Boothe grad-
uated with honours from the University of Miami 
where she earned a B.A. in International Marketing 
and Finance and holds an M.B.A. with concentration 
in Marketing from the Mona School of Business, 
University of the West Indies.

The Directors of Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited are 
pleased to present their Report for the 12 months ending 
March 31, 2021.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Statement of Comprehensive Income shows pre-tax prof-
its of $75.9M and post-tax profits of $69.6M. Further details 
of these results, as well as the prior 12-month performance 
are outlined in the Management Discussion and Analysis and 
Financial Statements which are included as part of this Annual 
Report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company as at March 31, 2021 are:
•  Mr. Winston Boothe (Chairman)
•  Dr. Vincent Lawrence (Non-Executive)
•  Mrs. Sandra Glasgow (Non-Executive)
•  Dr. Dahlia McDaniel Dickson (Non-Executive)
•  Mrs. Myrtis Boothe (Executive Director)
•  Mr. Kurt Boothe (Chief Executive Officer)
•  Miss Nikeisha Boothe (Business Development &  
   Corporate Affairs Manager)

The Directors to retire by rotation in accordance with the 
Articles of Incorporation are Mr. Kurt Boothe and Miss Nikei-
sha Boothe but, being eligible, all will offer themselves for 
re-election.

AUDITORS

The Auditors of the Company, HLB Mair Russell, of 3 Haugh-
ton Avenue, Kingston 10, have conveyed their willingness to 
continue in office as Auditors of the Company until the next 
Annual General Meeting.

We wish to thank all our customers, employees, agents and 
shareholders for their continued support and contribution to 
the Company’s performance. 

Dated this 17th day of July, 2021

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Nikeisha Boothe

Company Secretary

Directors’ Report
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Management Team



MR. GERARD WHYTE
Quality Assurance &  
Special Projects Manager

A glimpse at Mr. Whyte’s resume reveals 
a career in the pharmaceutical industry 
dating back to 1980 with a long thread 
of positions held – Medical Representa-
tive, Supervisor and Caribbean District 
Manager. Prior to joining MDS in 2009, 
Mr. Whyte was a founding partner in a 
pharmaceutical distribution firm where 
he was Director of Sales and Market-
ing. After seven years as the Business 
Development Manager at MDS, Mr. 
Whyte’s role has now pivoted in a new 
direction, as the Quality Assurance & 
Special Projects Manager - a vital role in 
this ever-evolving organisation.

MR. LENWORTH MURRAY
Divisional Sales Manager  
(Pharmaceutical Division)

Mr. Murray joined the MDS team as 
Trade Manager in 2012, a position that 
has since been modified to Divisional 
Sales Manager, rendering him re-
sponsible for managing sales output, 
strengthening communication and 
customer relationships in distribution 
channels, steering on-the-ground 
activities and promoting the MDS 
brand and products to target users. His 
more than 20 years of experience in the 
pharmaceutical industry and over a de-
cade in sales have equipped him with 
a strong understanding of the world of 
pharmaceuticals, invaluable sales skills 
and a robust network. He has enjoyed 
the challenges of varying roles through 
his longstanding career dating back to 
1991 including that of Sales Represen-
tative, Medical Representative, Pharma 
Sales Supervisor and North Caribbean 
Manager. 

MRS. ANTOINETTE McDONALD
Divisional Sales Manager (Pharmaceu-
tical Division and Medical Division)

Mrs. McDonald joined the MDS family 
as Sales Supervisor in 2016 with her 
role now expanded to that of Divisional 
Sales Manager with direct responsi-
bility for the Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories 
line of products as well as the Medical 
Division. Mrs. McDonald guides the 
Sales and Medical teams to optimise 
business outcomes, manages the de-
velopment of brand building strategies 
and establishes product growth ap-
proaches. Prior to MDS, Mrs. McDonald 
enjoyed 17 years in the pharmaceutical 
arena in varying capacities, working 
for some of the most well-respected 
companies in the industry including 
Glaxosmithkline Caribbean Limited. 
Her broad wealth of experience, depth 
of knowledge and uncanny way of en-
gaging with people have undoubtedly 
made a profound footprint. 

Management Team
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MR. LOUIS MANNING
Sales & Marketing Manager,  
Consumer Division

Mr. Louis Manning joined the MDS 
team in June 2019 to lead the new-
est Division at MDS after excelling as 
divisional regional and commercial 
manager for leading local distributors 
as well as international principals. At 
MDS, Louis leads the build out of this 
segment in keeping with MDS’ strategic 
growth initiatives. He is a route to mar-
ket professional with a demonstrated 
history of working in the Fast Moving 
Consumer Goods (FMCG) industry. Mr. 
Manning holds a Bachelor of Science 
Degree in Business Administration from 
the University College of the Caribbean. 

MR. RAYMOND ERNANDEZ
Chief Financial Officer 

Mr. Ernandez shoulders the respon-
sibility of all the Company’s financial 
functions including accounting, audit 
and corporate finance. His career spans 
more than 26 years of varied experi-
ence across industries. He is an experi-
enced Group Financial Controller with 
a track record of success in the Finance, 
Insurance, Shipping and Logistics and 
Retail sectors. He is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Jamaica and holds a Master of Science 
Degree in Accounting from the Univer-
sity of the West Indies.

MR. BERTINO GORDON
Operations Manager 

Mr. Bertino Gordon rejoined the 
Company in March 2020 as Operations 
Manager after a brief hiatus. Mr. Gor-
don has oversight responsibilities for 
inventory, warehousing, delivery fleet 
and all operational functions related to 
company facilities. Mr. Gordon is an ex-
perienced supply chain manager with 
a demonstrated history of working in 
the logistics and supply chain industry. 
Mr. Gordon has a Master of Business 
Administration (M.B.A.) from the Mona 
School of Business and Management, 
University of the West Indies.

Management Team
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MRS. NADINE BANTON
Human Resource and  
Administrative Manager

Mrs. Nadine Banton, who previously 
occupied the role of Administrative & 
Human Resource Officer, was appoint-
ed to the position of Human Resource 
& Administrative Manager effective 
October 1, 2020. Mrs. Banton has a 
wealth of experience partnering with 
executive teams and general staff to 
build strategic, people-focused human 
resources policies. She holds a Bachelor 
of Science Degree in Business Admin-
istration, a Postgraduate Diploma in 
Human Relations Management. She 
is currently pursuing the Society of 
Human Resources Management Senior 
Certified Professional Certification.

MS. TARIN MONTAQUE
Purchasing & Logistics Manager 

Ms. Tarin Montaque who previously 
performed the role of Purchasing and 
Logistics Officer was appointed as the 
Company’s Purchasing and Logistics 
Manager on October 1, 2020. Ms. 
Montaque holds a Bachelor of Science 
Degree in Business Administration 
with a major in Finance from Northern 
Caribbean University and also earned 
a Master of Science Degree in Logis-
tics Engineering from the Caribbean 
Maritime University. Ms. Montaque 
has served in the areas of distribution, 
logistics and inventory management 
for the past 20 years.
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DIRECTORS
CHAIRMAN

Mr. Winston Boothe

EXECUTIVES

Mrs. Myrtis Boothe
Mr. Kurt Boothe 

NON-EXECUTIVES

Dr. Vincent Lawrence
Mrs. Sandra Glasgow
Dr. Dahlia McDaniel 
Dickson

SECRETARY

Miss Nikeisha Boothe

SENIOR OFFICERS
Mrs. Myrtis Boothe  
Executive Director

Mr. Kurt Boothe 
Chief Executive Officer

Miss Nikeisha Boothe 
Business Development &  
Corporate Affairs Manager

Mr. Raymond Ernandez 
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Gerard Whyte 
Quality Assurance &  
Special Projects Manager

Mr. Lenworth Murray 
Divisional Sales Manager

Mrs. Antoinette McDonald 
Divisional Sales Manager

Mr. Louis Manning 
Sales and Marketing Manager

Mr. Bertino Gordon 
Operations Manager

Mrs. Nadine Banton 
Human Resource Manager

Ms. Tarin Montaque 
Purchasing & Logistics  
Manager

CORPORATE DATA

ATTORNEYS-AT-LAW
PATTERSON MAIR HAMILTON
85 Hope Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.

BANKERS
NATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK
90 - 94 Slipe Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.

SAGICOR BANK JAMAICA LIMITED 
17 Dominica Drive, Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.

BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA LIMITED 
Scotia Centre Branch
Corner of Duke & Port Royal Streets 
Kingston, Jamaica, W.I.

AUDITORS
HLB MAIR RUSSELL
3 Haughton Avenue, 
Kingston 10, Jamaica, W.I.

REGISTRAR & TRANSFER AGENT
JAMAICA CENTRAL  
SECURITIES DEPOSITORY
40 Harbour Street,
Kingston, Jamaica, W.I.

REGISTERED OFFICE
MEDICAL DISPOSABLES  
& SUPPLIES LIMITED

83 Hagley Park Road,

Kingston 10, Jamaica, W.I

T: (876) 546-7411  
or (876) 906-9994-5 

E: info@mdsja.com 

www.mdsja.com
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Top Ten Shareholders

SHAREHOLDING OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGERS

Shareholders	 Number of Units	 Shareholding %

Kurt Boothe	 51,154,333	 19.44%

Myrtis Boothe	 50,000,000	 19.00%

Winston Boothe	 50,000,000	 19.00%

Nikeisha Boothe	 50,000,000	 19.00%

Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited	 8,521,848	   3.24%

Mayberry Managed Clients Accounts	   7,156,206	   2.72%

First Rock Capital Holdings Limited	   5,000,000	   1.90%

Apex Pharmacy	   3,496,926	   1.33%

VM Wealth Equity Fund	   2,968,948	    1.13%

Nigel Coke	   2,083,598	    0.79%

Senior Managers	 Total	 Direct	 Connected Parties

Kurt Boothe	 201,154,333	 51,154,333	 150,000,000

Myrtis Boothe	 201,154,333	 50,000,000	 151,154,333

Nikeisha Boothe	 201,154,333	 50,000,000	 151,154,333

Lenworth Murray	 63,000	    63,000	 Nil

Gerard Whyte	 54,000	      54,000	 Nil

Antoinette McDonald	 30,500	 Nil	 30,500

Directors	 Total	 Direct	 Connected Parties

Kurt Boothe	 201,154,333	 51,154,333	 150,000,000

Myrtis Boothe	 201,154,333	 50,000,000	 151,154,333

Winston Boothe	 201,154,333	 50,000,000	 151,154,333

Nikeisha Boothe	 201,154,333	 50,000,000	 151,154,333

Dahlia McDaniel-Dickson	 1,459,398	  1,159,398	 300,000

Vincent Lawrence	 1,284,222	 Nil	 1,284,222

Sandra Glasgow	 Nil	  Nil 	 Nil

as at March 31, 2021

as at March 31, 2021
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'he who  
is not  
courageous 
enough 
to take 
risks, 
will 
achieve 
nothing 
in life'.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Board of Directors of Medical Disposables and Supplies Limited  (“The Company”) 
is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company and is committed to 
complying with the Corporate Governance Guidelines of the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
(JSE). The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the Company on be-
half of its shareholders. The Board requires the Company to maintain high standards 
of ethics and integrity at all times.

Information regarding the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices 
are available on the Company’s website at www.mdsja.com. The following docu-
ments approved by the Board are available on the investor relations section of the 
website:

•  Corporate Governance Statement;
•  Board Charter;
•  Audit and Compliance Committee Charter;
•  Compensation Committee Charter;
•  Disclosure Policy;
•  Code of Conduct and
•  Securities Trading Policy.

The Company updates its charters, policies and practices to reflect changing corpo-
rate governance requirements and practices.

This report outlines the governance of the Company in keeping with our commit-
ment to the long-term health of the business, integrating sustainable practices into 
our strategies, policies and operations and to make transparent disclosures of our 
financial as well as our non-financial performance. We hope that through this report, 
our stakeholders will gain a deeper understanding of our business, its sustainability 
philosophy and social responsibility practices. We endeavour to maintain harmonious 
relationships with all our stakeholders and value the contribution of our employees, 
suppliers and partners to the growth of the Company. 

1. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1.1 The Board’s duties

The role of the Board is to oversee and guide the management of the Company with 
the aim of protecting and enhancing the interests of its shareholders and taking into 
account the interests of other stakeholders including employees, customers, sup-
pliers and the wider community. In addition, the Board is responsible for identifying 
areas of significant business risk and ensuring arrangements are in place to adequate-
ly manage those risks.

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction and strategies of the 
Company, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of 
those goals. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to the Board for the day-to-day 
management of the Company. The Board ensures that the Chief Executive Officer is 
appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge his responsibilities.

Corporate Governance
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The Board has adopted a formal charter 
(“Board Charter”) that clearly estab-
lishes the relationship between the 
Board and management and describes 
their functions and responsibilities. The 
Board Charter is posted on the inves-
tor relations section of the Company’s 
website.

The Company’s Mentor advises the 
Board and committees on governance 
matters, ensuring that the rules of the 
JSE are always observed.  The Board 
also appoints the Company Secretary 
who is responsible for coordination of 
all Board business including agendas, 
Board Papers and Minutes; and helping 
to facilitate and organise the induc-
tion and professional development of 
Directors.

1.2  Code of Conduct

Directors of the Company are subject 
to the Company’s Code of Conduct. 
The Code of Conduct is considered 
by the Board to be an effective way to 
guide the behaviour of all Directors 
and employees and demonstrates the 
Company’s commitment to ethical and 
compliant practices.

1.3  Board Composition

The composition of the Board is deter-
mined in accordance with the following 
principles and guidelines:

o	 the Board should include inde-
pendent non-executive directors;

o	 the Board should comprise direc-
tors with an appropriate range of 
skills, experience and expertise;

o	 the Chair should be a non-execu-
tive director; and

o	 the Board should meet regularly 
and follow meeting guidelines set 
down to ensure all directors are 
made aware of and have available 
all necessary information, to par-
ticipate in informed discussions 
of all agenda items.

The Board currently comprises seven 
Directors: three independent Non-Ex-
ecutive Directors, one Non-Executive 
Director and three Executive Directors. 
Details of the Directors are included in 
this Annual Report.

The Board seeks to ensure an appro-
priate mix of skills and diversity in the 
membership of the Board. This includes 
diversity of skills, experience, gender 
and backgrounds in the pharmaceu-
tical industry, governance, finance, 
accounting, management and liaising 
with government.

The following Board skills matrix details 
the combined skills and experience of 
members of the Board, across a range 
of general and specialist areas. The 
Board considers that collectively the 
Directors have the appropriate range 
of skills and experience necessary to di-
rect the Company’s businesses, achieve 
its medium and long-term strategic 
objectives and create sustainable, long-
term value for shareholders.

1.4  Independence of Directors

The Board recognises the important 
contribution that independent Direc-

tors make to good corporate gover-
nance. Each Director is required to 
bring independent judgements to their 
decisions.

The Board has determined that three 
of the seven members of the Board 
are independent. In deciding whether 
a director is independent, the Board 
has considered the independence 
criteria set out in the JSE’s Corporate 
Governance Guidelines and the Board 
Charter. The Board assesses the inde-
pendence of existing Directors, at least 
annually.

The Board considers that Dr. the Hon. 
Vincent Lawrence, OJ, Dr. Dahlia 
McDaniel Dickson and Mrs. Sandra 
Glasgow meet these independence 
criteria and further, have no material 
business or contractual relationship 
with the Company, other than as a 
Director or Mentor.

The Directors will continue to monitor 
the composition of the Board to ensure 
that its structure remains appropriate 
and consistent with effective manage-
ment and good governance.

Name of Director 	 Period in office as at March 31, 2021

Mr. Winston Boothe, Chairman	 7 years and 3 months

Mrs. Myrtis Boothe, Executive Director	 7 years and 3 months

Mr. Kurt Boothe, Chief Executive Officer	 7 years and 3 months

Ms. Nikeshia Boothe, Executive Director  

and Company Secretary	 7 years and 3 months

Dr. the Hon. Vincent Lawrence, O.J.,  

Independent Non-Executive Director	 7 years and 3 months

Dr. Dahlia McDaniel Dickson,  

Independent Non-Executive Director	 7 years and 3 months

Mrs. Sandra A. C. Glasgow, Independent  

Non-Executive Director and Mentor	 7 years and 3 months

corporate governance
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corporate governance

Winston 
Boothe

Vincent 
Lawrence

Kurt  
Boothe

Myrtis
Boothe

Nikeisha 
Boothe

	

Dahlia 
McDaniel 
Dickson

Sandra 
Glasgow

07-Jul-20	 27-Sep-20	 27-Oct-20	 02-Feb-21	 19-Feb-21

Managing and Leading

Pharmaceutical experience

Global Experience

Business/Commercial

Strategy

Governance

Finance/Legal/ 
Risk Management

Marketing

Capital Projects

Health, Safety &  
Environment

Remuneration

Government Affairs

Winston  
Boothe - Chairman

Vincent Lawrence

Sandra Glasgow

Dahlia McDaniel  
Dickson

Myrtis Boothe

Kurt Boothe

Nikeisha Boothe
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√

√
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√
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1.5  Board Meetings

The Board meets formally at least four 
times each year, and from time to time, 
meetings are convened outside the 
scheduled dates to consider matters of 
importance. The Board met five times 
between April 1, 2020 and March 31, 
2021 and all Board members were in 
attendance.

The agenda for meetings is prepared by 
the Recording Secretary, in conjunction 
with the Chair, Chief Executive Officer, 
Company Secretary and periodic input 
from the Board. Comprehensive Board 
papers are distributed to Directors at 
least five days in advance of scheduled 
meetings. In light of the global pan-
demic brought about by COVID-19, the 
Board and its committees met virtually 
on electronic platforms.

Throughout the year, the Board fulfilled 
the following responsibilities:

•	 approved the corporate strategy 

Board Skills and Experience

Board Meeting Attendance

and strategic plans;

•	 approved the promotion of the 
General Manager to the position 
of Chief Executive Officer;

•	 appointed Mr. Raymond Ernan-
dez to the position of  Chief 
Financial Officer;

•	 reviewed and approved the an-
nual budget and financial plans 
including major capital expendi-
ture initiatives;

•	 monitored the operational and 
financial performance and the 
achievement of the Company’s 
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√
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√
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√
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√

√

√
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√
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strategic goals and objectives;

•	 reviewed proposals for acquisi-
tions, mergers and divestments;

•	 monitored the Company’s 
financial performance, including 
approval of the annual and quar-
terly releases to shareholders and 
liaison with the auditor;

•	 ensured there were effective 
management processes in place, 
including reviewing and ratifying 
systems of risk identification and 
management, ensuring appropri-
ate and adequate internal control 
processes, and that monitoring 
and reporting procedures for 
these systems are effective;

•	 reported to shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting.

2. BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established the follow-
ing committees to advise and support 
it in carrying out its duties:

•	 Audit and Compliance Committee, 
and 

•	 Compensation Committee.

2.1  Audit and Compliance  
         Committee

It is the Board’s responsibility to en-
sure that an effective internal control 
framework exists within the Company, 
including internal controls to deal with 
both the effectiveness and efficiency of 
significant business processes. Effective 
internal controls include the mainte-
nance of proper accounting records, 
safeguarding the Company’s assets, 
managing and mitigating business risks 
and the reliability of financial informa-
tion.

The Board has established the Audit 
and Compliance Committee to assist 
and advise it in fulfilling its responsibil-

ities to oversee the Company’s internal 
control framework, financial reporting 
obligations, risk management and 
adherence to legal and regulatory re-
quirements. The Audit and Compliance 
Committee operates under a Charter 
approved by the Board. 

Throughout the year, the Audit and 
Compliance Committee discharged the 
following responsibilities:

o	 ensured appropriate accounting 
policies and procedures were de-
fined, adopted and maintained;

o	 ensured that the operating and 
management reporting proce-
dures, and the system of internal 
control, are of a sufficiently high 
standard to provide timely and 
accurate information as a sound 
basis for management of the 
Company’s business;

o	 reviewed the Financial State-
ments for accuracy and to 
ensure they reflect a true and fair 
position of the Company, prior to 
their presentation to the Board;

o	 approved the annual audit plan 
submitted by the external audi-
tor;

o	 made recommendations to the 
Board of Directors on the reap-
pointment of the external auditor, 
and monitored the effectiveness 
and independence of the external 
auditor;

o	 reviewed and approved the terms 
of engagement and fees of the 
external auditor;

o	 reviewed and made recommen-
dations to the Board of Directors 
on the scope and the adequacy 
of the external audit, and

o	 obtained an annual indepen-
dence declaration from the 
external auditor; 

o	 formally evaluated the effective-
ness of the Company’s external 
auditor, HLB Mair Russell.

The members of the Committee at the 
date of this report were:

•  Mrs. Sandra Glasgow, Chairperson

•  Dr. the Hon. Vincent Lawrence, OJ

•  Dr. Dahlia McDaniel Dickson, and

•  Mr. Winston Boothe.

corporate governance

07-Jul-20 27-Oct-20 02-Feb-21

Sandra Glasgow - Chairperson

Vincent Lawrence

Winston Boothe 

Dahlia McDaniel Dickson

Audit & Compliance Committee Meeting Attendance

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

The Committee met three times during the financial year ended March 31, 2021. 
All committee members were present at the meetings.
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
FINANCIAL REPORTING

3.1 Risk Identification  
        and Management

The Board accepts that taking and man-
aging risk is central to building share-
holder value.  The Board is responsible 
for the Company’s risk management 
strategy while management is respon-
sible for implementing the strategy 
and developing a control infrastructure 
designed to identify and mitigate risks 
across the Company’s operations.

The Company employs executives with 
the requisite experience and qualifica-
tions to enable the Board to manage 
the risks to the Company. The Board 

has requested the Audit and Compli-
ance Committee oversee the Compa-
ny’s risk management processes and 
procedures.

The Company strives to provide a 
dynamic, rewarding and safe place 
to work and is committed to acting 
consistently with the highest ethical 
standards and in strict compliance with 
the law in all its operations. To achieve 
this there are important standards and 
rules that all Directors, executives and 
other employees must be aware of and 
follow, that ensure all actions and de-
cisions support the Company’s values, 
vision and objectives. The Company’s 
Code of Conduct covers a broad range 
of matters and refers to those practices 
necessary to maintain confidence in 
the Company’s integrity. 

3.2  Integrity in Financial  
         Reporting 

The preparation and approval of the 
Company’s financial statements for 
the financial year ended March 31, 
2021 involved both the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
providing detailed representations to 
the Board covering:

o	 compliance with the Company’s 
accounting policies and relevant 
accounting standards;

o	 the accuracy of the financial 
statements and that they provide 
a true and fair view of the finan-
cial health of the Company;

o	 the integrity and objectivity of 
the financial statements; and

corporate governance
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o	 the effectiveness of the Compa-
ny’s system of internal control.

The Board received a declaration from 
the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chief Financial Officer that, in their 
opinion, the financial records of the 
Company have been properly main-
tained and that the financial state-
ments comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and give a true 
and fair view of the financial position 
and performance of the Company and 
that the opinion has been formed on 
the basis of a sound system of risk man-
agement and internal control which is 
operating effectively.

The Full Year Financial Statements were 
audited by the Company’s auditor HLB 
Mair Russell.

3.3  Anti-Corruption and  
         Anti-Bribery

The Company’s Code of Conduct out-
lines its zero tolerance policy regard-
ing bribery and corruption. The Code 
prohibits the offer, promise or giving of 
any payment or benefit at any time to 
an individual or entity for the purpose 
of improperly influencing decisions or 
actions with respect to our business. 

4. SECURITIES TRADING  
     BY DIRECTORS AND  
     EMPLOYEES
The Company’s Securities Trading 
Policy outlines the rules relating to 
trading of the Company’s securities. 
The policy applies to Directors, officers 
and employees dealing in securities of 
the Company.

A copy of the Securities Trading Policy 
can be accessed on the investor rela-
tions section of the Company’s website. 
This policy is provided to all Directors 
and employees and compliance with 
it is reviewed on an ongoing basis in 
accordance with the Company’s risk 
management systems.

5. SHAREHOLDER  
     COMMUNICATIONS
The Company has established policies 
and procedures in order to comply with 
its continuous and periodic disclosure 
requirements under the Jamaica Com-
panies Act and the JSE’s Junior Market 
Listing Rules. The Board has adopted 
a formal Disclosure Policy, which is 
available from the investor relations 
governance section of the Company’s 
website. 

The Policy aims to ensure that infor-
mation disclosed by the Company to 
shareholders and the public is timely, 
accurate, comprehensive, authorita-
tive and relevant to all aspects of the 
Company’s operations while at the 
same time consistent with all legal 
requirements. Adherence to this policy 
is intended to provide an effective and 
efficient framework to facilitate the 
timely dissemination of material infor-
mation to the investing public in the 
spirit of full disclosure and in compli-
ance with the disclosure regulations of 
the Jamaica Stock Exchange on which 
the Company’s shares are listed, and 
the Financial Services Commission.

The Company recognises the impor-
tance of shareholder participation in 
general meetings and encourages that 
participation. 

6. CODE OF CONDUCT  
     AND ETHICS
A company’s success and reputation 
are built upon the principles of fair 
dealing and ethical conduct of all 
officers, directors, and employees. The 
Company is committed to the highest 
standards of honesty, integrity, and 
impartiality in both business and per-
sonal dealings, including the avoidance 
of situations that may lead to conflicts 
of interest. The Company’s reputation 
for integrity and excellence requires 
careful observance of the spirit and 

corporate governance

letter of all applicable laws and regula-
tions, as well as a scrupulous regard for 
the highest standards of conduct and 
of corporate and personal integrity. The 
Company’s continued success depends 
upon the trust of our customers, affili-
ates, employees, shareholders, contrac-
tors, and suppliers. We are dedicated to 
preserving that trust. 

The Code of Conduct and Ethics is a 
guide for our employees and Board of 
Directors to live our values and they are 
expected to understand the policies 
contained in the Code. These policies 
are intended to guide their actions and 
working relationships with customers, 
fellow employees, competitors, gov-
ernment representatives, media, and all 
others. 

It is the responsibility of management 
and supervisory personnel to ensure 
adherence to the Code. It is also the 
responsibility of each individual to 
promptly report any violations of this 
Code to the responsible officer, the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  
An Ethics E-mail Address, overseen by 
the Company’s Audit and Compliance 
Committee, has been established and 
individuals may report violations or 
other information, which they believe, 
should be reported under this Code.  
These include concerns regarding 
questionable accounting, internal ac-
counting controls or auditing matters.  

 

Sandra Glasgow
Mentor
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Management Discussion & Analysis
BUSINESS REVIEW

Our growth strategy has always been anchored in being 
long-term focused and has been nurtured organically 
by expanding our areas of concentration. With this, 

the Company experienced year-over-year increases in profits 
since inception before falling into unfamiliar territory during 
the past financial year which found us, for the very first time 
in our existence, operating in the red. The challenges that car-
ried over from the year prior centred around retooling efforts, 
internal changes and investment in support systems includ-
ing rising administrative costs related to talent recruitment 
and retention, as well as improvement in internal procedures 
and information technology. These were further compound-
ed by the Covid-19 pandemic which had its first locally re-
ported case in March 2020, perfectly timed for the beginning 
of our financial year in the ensuing month of April. One would 
be tempted in such circumstances to scale downwards and 
reduce the pressure placed on expenditures. However, the 
Company viewed this a bit differently and, instead, used the 
period as an opportunity to retool, reinvest and reposition 
the Company to be poised for post-COVID success.

Although not as severely affected as many other businesses, 
we were certainly not insulated from the immediate internal 
shocks of the pandemic which saw unstable foreign ex-
change rates, the closures of pharmacies and lowered traffic 
of general (non-covid) hospital cases due to the overbur-
dened medical facilities prioritising emergency cases only. 
This all came at a time when we had recently invested in 
expansion efforts and we had to navigate the unusually nega-
tive terrain for two-thirds of the year. Though we projected to 
breakeven by the end of nine months, we realised this target 
one month ahead of forecast.

Subsequently, we strategized to improve our margins, 
moving us along the right path. The growth is represented in 
the year-end numbers which doubled that of last year. The 
decision to hold strain and invest in the support systems that 
would be required to bolster the next phase of expansion, 

though difficult at the time, proved sound and begun to bear 
fruit. No clearer example demonstrates this point than the 
execution of an acquisition amidst the pandemic to set the 
stage for recovery.

GROWTH & ACQUISITION

As we progressed through the different phases of the busi-
ness life cycle, inorganic growth strategies were crafted and 
realised via the acquisition of Cornwall Medical and Dental 
Supplies Limited (CMDL). This move allows us to be more 
proactive in expanding our market share in the Medical Divi-
sion and affords the Company the opportunity to be a major 
player as a dental distributor.

CMDL is a distribution company based in Montego Bay, St. 
James that distributes medical supplies and disposables - 
areas in which we have been friendly rivals over the years. 
Additionally, they are also key distributors of dental products 
and operate a retail segment with three pharmacies under 
the Corn-Med Pharmacy name – two are located in Montego 
Bay and one in Savanna-la-Mar. The retail and dental seg-
ments represent areas that were untouched by MDS prior to 
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now. Both entities (CMDL and MDS) 
naturally found synergies in joining 
forces, particularly in the medical 
division, which we regard as a core 
strength with distinct advantages. This 
move expands our market share in 
Jamaica, adds a Division in a new area 
of business which we regard as niche 
and gives us the ability to service a new 
segment of clients. Additionally, we 
have also become slightly more verti-
cally integrated through the retail arm 
and our tentacles have been stretched 
deeper inthe western region of the 
island. The Directors of the previous 
entity still remain involved and we look 
forward to building our strategic focus.

A key area of note is that we are largely 
in the business of need. As a result, 
there is a constant demand for our 
products. While our Consumer Division 
held its own throughout the year, it was 
the most challenged in the downtime 
by the fight for share of wallet. With the 
Consumer Division being the smallest 
segment in our portfolio, it did not 
materially affect the larger picture. 

Our organic growth strategies contin-
ue to fare well as we fiercely protect 
the brands we represent, add solid 
product lines to our existing catalogue 
and enjoy the support of solid part-
nerships. We have keenly set our gaze 
on enhancing our product offerings 
through niche lines, one being in the 
area of oncology. With cancer being 
an extremely sensitive issue, one that 
touches us all in one form or another, 
we are grateful to have the opportunity 
to provide solutions in that arena, yet 
another area of need. 

REVENUE

For the year ended March 31, 2021, the 
Company generated total revenue of 
$2.4B, a decline of 2% or $58.3M when 
compared to total revenue produced 
last year.  The falloff can be attributed 
to the decline in economic activity 
caused by the onset of the global 

pandemic, COVID-19. The measures 
implemented to decelerate the spread 
of the disease had a significant impact 
on business, particularly during the first 
quarter with sales falling considerably 
across all three divisions.  Business 
activity started to improve during the 
third and fourth quarters of the year 
which resulted in higher revenues 
primarily in the pharmaceutical and 
medical divisions.  

GROSS PROFIT

Gross Profit of $598.9M for the twelve-
month period reflects a 7% or $40M 
increase over the previous year.  This 
increase was driven by lower cost of 
sales which was achieved through 
greater efficiencies obtained from more 
organized planning and execution.  
There was a significant reduction in 
adjustments made for stock losses.  The 
gross profit margin stood at 24.7%, up 
from 22.5% the previous year.  

OPERATING EXPENSES

Total operational expenses for the 
one-year period amounted to $509.7M, 
an increase of $43.8M over the amount 
spent last year.  The increase was 
accounted for mainly through higher 

administrative expenses and selling 
and promotional costs. This increased 
spend propelled the rise in business 
activity and segment growth.  Opera-
tional expenses include:

•	 Salaries, commissions, and other 
related expenses of $249.8M 
reflected a 12% increase when 
compared to prior year. This was 
mostly attributed to the addition 
of new staff in areas where critical 
support as well as increased com-
mercial oversight and execution 
were required. 

•	 Professional fees increased over 
the prior year by $9.3M.  This was 
due to the need for external con-
sultancies to close out opportuni-
ties in the market.

•	 Utilities increased by $8M when 
compared to the previous year due 
to higher rates experienced. 

NON-OPERATIONAL EXPENSES

Total non-operating expenses 
amounted to $81.1M, up from $67.6M 
at the end of 2020. A total of $70.2M 
of that amount was spent on Finance 
related expenses. The bulk of the spend 
was on one-off fees to facilitate the ink-

Total Sales  (in millions of dollars)

MD&A
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2,221.90

2,481.14 2,422.81

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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Five-Year Financial Highlights

Profit and Loss Summary	 2017	 2018	 2019	 2020	 2021

Sales	  1,714.02 	  2,045.44 	  2,221.90 	  2,481.14 	  2,422.81 

Gross Profit	  410.73 	  461.54 	  548.51 	  558.93 	  598.89 

Operating Profit	  136.92 	  141.80 	  186.62 	  98.75 	  94.45 

EBITDA	  158.40 	  168.01 	  190.27 	  112.96 	  159.45 

Profit after tax	  101.91 	  109.59 	  112.76 	  34.56 	  69.61 

					   

Profitability Ratios					   

Revenue Growth	 29.14%	 19.34%	 8.63%	 11.67%	 -2.35%

Gross Margin	 23.96%	 22.56%	 24.69%	 22.53%	 24.72%

EBITDA Margin	 9.24%	 8.21%	 8.56%	 4.55%	 6.58%

Operating Margin	 7.99%	 6.93%	 8.40%	 3.98%	 3.90%

Profit Margin/ Net Margin	 5.95%	 5.36%	 5.08%	 1.39%	 2.87%

Efficiency Ratio	 18.23%	 17.38%	 19.81%	 21.31%	 24.66%

Balance Sheet Summary	 2017	 2018	 2019	 2020	 2021

Total Assets	  1,214.25 	  1,474.44 	  1,648.92 	  1,742.48 	  2,289.26 

Shareholders Equity	  563.54 	  673.13 	  759.21 	  833.76 	  1,017.15 

Total Liability	  650.71 	  774.97 	  889.70 	  908.73 	  1,272.11 

Borrowing	  324.28 	  336.65 	  424.45 	  533.54 	  653.65 

Current Assets	  727.15 	  935.21 	  1,089.40 	  1,128.07 	  1,435.38 

Current Liabilities	  449.37 	  605.44 	  756.28 	  813.95 	  1,061.84 

					   

Return on Assets	 8.39%	 7.43%	 6.84%	 1.98%	 3.04%

Return on Equity	 18.08%	 16.28%	 14.85%	 4.14%	 6.84%

Debt to Equity	 115%	 115%	 117%	 109%	 125%

Current Ratio	 162%	 154%	 144%	 139%	 135%



20
21

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t -
 M

ed
ic

al
 D

is
po

sa
bl

es
 &

 S
up

pl
ie

s 
Li

m
ite

d

40

ing of two new banking arrangements. 
Year-end foreign exchange losses were 
$8.4M less than prior year. This was 
done through the deliberate measures 
that have been implemented to reduce 
the gap in FX trading to support the 
importation of products.  

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT  
AFTER TAX

Despite the challenges experienced 
during the year, the Group generated a 
profit of $69.6M.  This is up from a profit 
after tax of $35M in the prior year.  

STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION  

Total Group assets grew by $546.8M 
or 32% from $1.74B to $2.29B when 

compared to year-ended March 
31, 2020.  This was due to increases 
in Property, Plant and Equipment 
($208.6M), Intangibles ($32.3M), Inven-
tories ($282.2M) and Cash and Cash 
Balances ($98.7M).  Trade receivables 
fell by $72M when compared to prior 
year.

Total Liabilities  increased by $363.4M 
or 40% from $908.7M to $1.27B. This 
was due to increases in Borrowings 
($120.11M), Trade and other payables 
($187.7M) and Deferred tax ($19.3M). 
The increase in borrowings was used to 
facilitate growth and business expan-
sion.  

Shareholders’ Equity increased by 
$183.4M or 22% from $833.8M to 
$1,017.1M. 	

LOOKING AHEAD
Although there is still looming uncer-
tainty with the global health crisis, we 
remain optimistic about the future and 
our priority remains centred on ensur-
ing that our operations are financially 
agile to quickly adapt to an unpredict-
able market environment. With this, 
the financial management objectives 
will be focused on conserving cash, 
streamlining working capital utilisation 
and maximising value from existing 
business operations. We continue to 
keep a close eye on trade recovery, con-
tainer shortages, and the management 
of foreign exchange fluctuations.

MD&A
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Throughout our 21 years in business, we have experi-
enced challenges of many kinds, and this year was chief 
of them all, levelling immense punching power. Though 

it was one that demanded physical separation between 
colleagues, it served to promote a spirit of connectedness 
that led members of the MDS team to have an even greater 
respect for the distinct contributions made by each team-
mate, a deeper appreciation for the work we collectively do 
and the service we provide. It found us working ever more 
hand in glove with each other to provide continued service to 
essential workers and facilities.

Upholding our commitment to the country while keeping our 
people safe was foremost in our priorities at the onset of the 
pandemic. From our operations and logistics personnel who 
helped to keep our supply chain running, the Warehouse and 
Customer Care team who attended to the needs of customers 
and consumers, to the delivery team that made sure our cus-
tomers (and by extension, families and individuals across the 
length and breadth of the island) had access to medication and 
health supplies - their combined efforts, hard work and dedica-
tion allowed us to concretise our commitment to service. 

Human Resources

Always 
fight 
for 
what 
you 
love!
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TAKING CARE... OF OUR  
STAKEHOLDERS – THE  
COVID-19 TASK FORCE

The crisis spurred the mobilisation of 
an internal Covid-19 Task Force, led by 
the Human Resource & Administration 
Manager, Mrs. Nadine Banton. The 
objectives of the Task Force were multi-
fold: to prepare for and to manage 
any possible impacts related to the 

Human Resources

outbreak and to protect the health and 
safety of all employees as well as ensur-
ing continuity of our operations. Daily 
engagements with the committee were 
executed through planning sessions, 
discussions on important updates, 
reviews of the Company’s pandemic 
protocol, provision of company-wide 
guidance and communication. There 
was a heavy reliance on the relevant 
government agencies for the most 
current information, guidelines and 
recommendations including that of 
the Ministry of Health and Wellness. We 
are happy to say that, amid the chal-
lenges and restrictions, we continued 
to responsibly provide consistent and 
reliable products to our customers and 
communities with no known cases of 
transmission among members of our 
team during the period.

Our digital office plan that had already 
been in train through our business 
continuity project was accelerated to 
leverage workplace flexibility for con-
tinuous engagement and productivity. 
A work-from-home arrangement was 
quickly implemented for our employ-

ees, where possible, while ensuring 
critical operations continued running. 
These were executed against a back-
drop of strict sanitisation protocols 
and stringent operational protocols to 
protect our teams based at the office 
and those deployed in the field.

GROWTH, RECRUITMENT & 
STAFFING

In support of our growing business, we 
further expanded and strengthened 
our workforce. Included in this was the 
Management Team which burgeoned 
to a body of 10, as part of a move to-
wards providing greater accountability 
and focus to departmental responsibil-
ities. Vacant key roles were also filled 
namely, that of the: 

•	 Chief Financial Officer

•	 Chief Accountant

•	 Warehouse Supervisor

•	 Key Account Executive

•	 Trade Execution and Develop-
ment Executive
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The additions of these key person-
nel helped in alleviating some of the 
pressures experienced during the prior 
year and will further maximise the 
efficiency and professional interaction 
required to achieve the Company’s 
overall objectives.

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT

Training and Development play an 
integral role in our talent manage-
ment programme.  Through our 
investment in human capital, we are 
not only ensuring positional success 
but leadership succession in our drive 
towards our goals. For the period under 
review, three areas of training were 
earmarked to ensure that employees 
were coached to upskill their capabil-
ities, enhance internal competencies 
and become sufficiently experienced to 
the extent necessary to undertake their 
assigned activities and responsibilities 
with effectiveness.  

(i)    Data Integrity for Logistics  
Service Providers (LSP)

(ii)   Product Spill Management 

(iii)  People Management for  
 Supervisors

STAFF WELFARE

Despite the keen attention paid to fi-
nancial discipline and a very conscious 
approach to cost containment this year, 
following the announcement of new 
curfew measures and the decision to 
implement lockdown restrictions for 
the long Easter holiday weekend, we 
found it necessary to maintain a token 
of appreciation to our staff through the 
distribution of edible (Easter Bun) care 
packages, playfully branded under the 

Human Resources

theme ‘Bun’ Out the Lockdown. As the 
heart of our business, our team contin-
ues to prove deserving of actions, both 
large and small, that serve to sweeten 
the labour and recognise the vital and 
valuable role they offer to the Compa-
ny’s success. 

As we continue to confront our rapidly 
changing environment and the ‘new 
normal’, we are confident that our team 
will emerge even stronger and more 
resilient than before.
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Protect and Serve
MDS is proud to have played an 
instrumental role in supporting 
initiatives to combat the effects of 
the virus and protect key per-
sonnel in vulnerable spaces. Our 
donations of personal protective 
equipment (PPE), and sanitisation 
support to various national enti-
ties sought to address the most 
critical needs brought on by the 
pandemic.

Of those activities that were 
undertaken, one that is of partic-
ular note was our first ‘sanitisation 
invasion’ of a renowned public fa-
cility, the Half-Way Tree Transpor-
tation Centre, specially selected 
for being a very central point with 
high volume pedestrian traffic 
passing through its location daily. 
The January 2021 activation was 
sponsored by lead product Disi-
clin, a disinfectant cleaner dubbed 
as a ‘triple threat’ because of its 
performance of three essential 
actions – cleaning, deodorising 
and disinfecting. Over 20 mem-
bers of the Disiclin cleaning squad 
worked earnestly in targeting 
high-touch and communal areas 
such as railings, posts, doorknobs, 
bathrooms, seating and stairwells.

Getting Back on Track 
On March 19 and 20, the Anthrick Management Corporate 
High Schools Development Meet was the first track and field 
organisation to be included in the JAAA calendar of events 
for which GOJ approval was secured to allow for athletes to 
qualify for Boys and Girls Championships. With intense Covid 
protocol compliance being a part of the basis for approval, 

mandatory wearing of face masks and instalment of multiple 
sanitisation stations and frequent decontamination efforts 
pre and post event were additional cost factors for the event 
holders to manoeuvre. With such an event being so signifi-
cant to school children and, in some cases, a vehicle through 
which some student-athletes’ college prospects were hinged, 
we were more compelled to offer support this year through 
cash and kind contributions, with the latter including masks, 
rubbing alcohol and sanitising gel. 

Corporate Social Responsibility
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In January 2021, the Company hosted the 
second staging of its highly anticipated 
Mpowered by MDS Continuing Education 
seminar for pharmacists from our 83 Hagley 
Park Road facility, with this year’s theme 
being centred on “Change and Transforma-
tion”. With the lingering effects of Covid-19, 
the format of the presentation package 
shifted to the online platform, backed with 
the multi-media excellence of Phase 3 Pro-
ductions and seamlessly transmitted with 
Digicel’s digital support and made possible 
by Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories and the Sagicor 
Group. This year’s instalment was meant to 
extend full respect, acknowledgement and 
gratitude to the pharmacists who have felt 
slighted by not being sufficiently recognised 
as being essential to the health sector and 
to the wider Jamaica during this particularly 
difficult and unprecedented health crisis.

M-Powered Continuing 
Education Event 

Participants onscreen being monitored by Phase 3 Productions.

Special Guest, Jeffrey Campbell (aka Agent Sasco) in dialogue with host, Terri-Karelle Reid, on the 
importance of evolving.
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The Company’s first-ever virtual online 
learning experience, flawlessly hosted 
by the incomparable Terri-Karrelle Reid, 
provided an important educational op-
portunity to pharmacists to amass req-
uisite credits towards maintaining their 
professional licensure, at no cost to the 
participants. The event which brought 
together elements of education, enter-
tainment and community, consisted 
of five (5) educational sessions from 
speakers with diverse areas of expertise 
including Ms. Lisa Reid (Public Health 
Nutrition and Lifestyle Pharmacist), Dr. 
William Aiken (Consultant Urologist), 
Dr. Andre’ McDonald (Medical Doctor 
and CEO of SureTime Emergency Med-
ical Services), Dr. Ajani Nugent ((Ja-
maican born, New York based Plastic 
Surgeon) and Norma Williams (Brand 
Architect and CEO of BrandED). 

Pharmacists from every corner of the 
island and other parts of the globe 
learnt, laughed, and even danced a 
time or two while the MDS CEO, Mr. 
Kurt Boothe, changed proverbial hats 
and seamlessly transitioned to the 
turntables to provide rousing enter-
tainment during the mandatory break 
period. Another highlight came when 
the participants were surprisingly 
treated to an ‘Agent of Change’, Jeffrey 
Campbell, more popularly known as 
Agent Sasco who has, himself, un-
dergone many personal evolutions 
since entering the dancehall scene as 
a teenager in the late 90’s. The lyrical 
genius was nothing short of uplifting 
as he engaged in conversation with the 
Mpowered host, and spontaneously 
spat a quick verse so that none were 
left disappointed. 

The event was described by event go-
ers as being on par with internationally 
staged experiences. As one attendee 
expressed, “MDS is certainly the BAR”, 
while another quipped, “… MDS is em-
powering Pharmacists as we continue 
to serve and care for all Jamaicans.”

Nikeisha Boothe with Presenter, Dr. William Aiken Dr. Andre’ McDonald 

Kurt Boothe, CEO turning the tables as DJ McLovin of Top Shelf 
Entertainment

Ms. Lisa Reid Norma Williams (Brand Architect and CEO of BrandED)
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Audited Financial Statements

Be thankful
for what 

you are 
now,

and keep 
fighting for 

what you 
want to be 
tomorrow.
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3 Haughton Avenue, Kingston 10, Jamaica W.I.       56 Market Street, Montego Bay, Jamaica W.I. 
TEL: (876) 926-2020/2   TEL: (876) 926-9400            TEL: (876) 952-2891    EMAIL: info@hlbjm.com  
 
HLB Mair Russell is an independent member of HLB the global advisory and accounting network 
 

Independent auditors’ report 

To the Members of 
Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 

We have audited the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of Medical Disposables & Supplies 
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) which comprise the consolidated and 
stand-alone statement of financial position as at March 31, 2021, the consolidated and stand-alone statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated and stand-alone statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated and stand-alone statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the 
financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.  

In our opinion, the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated and stand-alone financial position of the Group and the Company as at March 31, 2021, and of 
the consolidated and stand-alone financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Jamaican Companies Act. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that in our professional judgement were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period.  The matter was addressed in the context of our audit 
of financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on this matter. 
 
(i) Business combination 
 

Effective March 30, 2021 Cornwall Enterprises Limited (CEL), a subsidiary of Medical Disposables & 
Supplies Limited (MDS), acquired the assets and liabilities of Cornwall Medical and Dental Supplies 
Limited, whose main activities were selling and distribution of medical and dental supplies and also 
operated registered pharmacies. In accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combination, the transaction was 
deemed to be a business combination as the assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business. 
Cornwall Enterprises Limited was identified as the acquirer as prescribed by IFRS 3 qualifying factors. At 
the acquisition date, the amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, are measured 
at fair value. 
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Independent auditors’ report (cont’d) 

To the Members of 
Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
 
Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 
 
(i) Business combination (cont’d) 
 

Management obtained an independent valuation of the intangible assets in connection with certain 
assets acquired from Cornwall Medical and Dental Supplies Limited for financial reporting purpose. 

 
 Management judgement was applied as follows: 
 

• In identifying and estimating the fair value of certain assets acquired as part of the transaction. 
• In determining the likely economic lifespan of the assets acquired, based on consideration of similar 

assets. 
 

 How our audit addressed the key audit matter  
 
 Our audit procedures included, amongst others:   
 

• Ensuring compliance with IFRS 3, we evaluated the techniques and methodologies used by the 
Company in arriving at the fair value of the assets acquired. 

• Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements.  
• We tested the Group ownership in shares in CEL.  
 

 Based on the procedures performed, we concluded that management’s valuation is reasonable. 

(ii) Allowance for expected credit losses 

As at March 31, 2021 trade and other receivables after allowance for expected credit losses amounted to 
$457,387,463 or 19.97% of the total assets. We consider the measurement of expected credit losses a 
key audit matter as the determination is based on management’s judgement and subject to significant 
uncertainty. 

 
The principles for determining expected credit losses are described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies. The management of credit risk and the review for impairment are described in more detail in Note 
27 to the financial statements.  
 
How our audit addressed the key audit matter  
 
Our audit procedures included, amongst others:   
 
• Ensuring compliance with IFRS 9, we evaluated the techniques and methodologies used by the 

Company in order to assess expected credit losses.  
• Evaluated the information of economic parameters included in the forward-looking information.  
• Tested the accuracy of the ECL calculation.  
• Tested subsequent collection from selected overdue customer assets.  
• Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements.  
• Assessed and validated the inputs used and assumptions applied in determining the loss rates which are 

integral to the provision matrix used in determining the expected credit losses for trade receivables.  
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Independent auditors’ report (cont’d) 

To the Members of 
Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated and Stand-alone 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRS and the Jamaican Companies Act, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and Company’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Stand-alone Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and Company’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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Independent auditors’ report (cont’d) 

To the Members of 
Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Stand-alone Financial Statements (cont’d) 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group or Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that presents a true and fair view. 
 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group and Company to express an opinion on the consolidated and 
stand-alone financial statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
 
Report on additional matters as required by the Jamaican Companies Act 

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit.  In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, 
so far as appears from our examination of those records, and the financial statements, which are in 
agreement therewith, give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner required. 
 
The Engagement Partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Sixto P. Coy.  

 
 

Chartered Accountants 

Kingston, Jamaica  

July 8, 2021            
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position                                                             
March 31, 2021      
 Note 2021 2020 
               $   $ 
    
Assets    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment (3) 819,679,345 611,071,709 
Right of use asset  (4) 780,065 2,184,182 
Intangible assets (5) 33,423,182 1,157,886 
  853,882,592 614,413,777 
Current assets    
Inventories  (6) 853,802,501 571,600,120 
Trade and other receivables  (7) 457,389,463 529,404,611 
Prepayments  5,188,312 6,810,967 
Taxation recoverable (8) 2,350,718 2,340,447 
Cash and short-term deposits (9) 116,644,932 17,914,911 
  1,435,375,926 1,128,071,056 

Total assets  2,289,258,518 1,742,484,833 
    
Equity and liabilities      
Equity    
Share capital   (10) 107,835,764 107,835,764 
Revaluation reserve (11) 108,518,073 117,135,199 
Retained profits  678,401,286 608,787,503 
Non-controlling interest   122,391,000 -          
Total equity  1,017,146,123 833,758,466 
       
Liabilities    
Non-current liabilities    
Due on business acquisition (12) 31,098,000 -         
Lease liabilities (4) -                      493,778 
Borrowings (13) 157,464,241 91,863,805 
Deferred tax liabilities  (14) 21,710,392 2,419,746 
  210,272,633 94,777,329 
Current liabilities     
Lease liabilities (4)   660,520 1,611,499 
Bank overdraft (9 & 15) 144,996,589 141,800,495 
Borrowings (13) 351,190,677 299,876,127 
Trade and other payables (16) 431,575,470 365,353,854 
Due on business acquisition (12) 121,500,000 -          
Income tax payable   11,916,506 5,307,063 
  1,061,839,762 813,949,038 
Total liabilities  1,272,112,395 908,726,367 

Total equity and liabilities  2,289,258,518 1,742,484,833 
    

 The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on July 8, 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 
  
   
 
________________________ Director                            _____________________ Director 
  Winston Boothe Kurt Boothe 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss                                                          
Year ended March 31, 2021   
 
 Note                2021              2020    
                    $                 $ 
    
Revenue  2,422,806,606 2,481,141,479 
    
Cost of sales  (18) (1,823,914,361) (1,922,211,921) 
    
Gross profit  598,892,245 558,929,558 
    
Other income (17) 5,215,620 5,645,110 
Administrative expenses  (18) (254,825,054) (244,240,744) 
Selling and promotional costs (18) (225,344,159) (184,651,373) 
Impairment of financial assets   (1,000,000) (7,594,269) 
Depreciation and amortisation (18) (28,493,524) (29,343,036) 
    
Operating profit  94,445,128 98,745,246 
    
Finance income (20) 484,818 2,848,993 
Finance costs (20) (70,085,966) (48,135,334) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   50,000 1,500,833 
Loss on foreign exchange  (11,042,237) (19,482,279) 
Gain arising on business acquisition (21) 62,085,000 -          
    
Profit before tax  75,936,743 35,477,459 
    
Income tax expense (22) (6,322,960) (920,775) 
    
Net profit for the year  69,613,783 34,556,684 
    
Net profit for the year attributable to:    
  Non-controlling interest  -                -        
  Owners of the parent  69,613,783 34,556,684 
    
Earnings per share (23) 0.26 0.13 
    
         
The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income                      
Year ended March 31, 2021   
 
   Note                2021              2020    
                    $                 $ 
    
Net profit for the year  69,613,783 34,558,684 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to  
 profit or loss    
   Revaluation of land and buildings (11) -        68,937,009 
   Deferred tax   (8,617,126) -          
  (8,617,126) 68,937,009 

Total comprehensive income for the year  60,996,657 103,493,693 
    
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to:    
  Non-controlling interest  -        -        
  Owners of parent  60,996,657 103,493,693 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows                                                                                                               
Year ended March 31, 2021     
 Note       2021 2020 
  $ $ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Profit before tax  75,936,743 35,477,459 
    
Adjustments for:    
   Depreciation and amortisation      28,493,524 29,343,036 
   Interest expense (20) 70,085,966 47,965,363 
   Interest income (20) (484,818) (2,848,993) 
   Gain on disposal of property, plant, and equipment  (50,000) (1,500,833) 
    Gain on business acquisition   (62,085,000) -                     
  111,896,415 108,436,032 
    
   (Increase)/decrease in inventories  (157,721,381) 76,355,212 
    Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables   143,876,148 (139,198,025) 
    Decrease in prepayments  1,622,657 3,810,042 
    Decrease in trade and other payables  (39,276,384) (89,347,401) 
Cash generated from/(used in) operations   60,397,455 (39,944,140) 
Interest paid  (70,085,966) (47,699,839) 
Income taxes paid  -                     (3,717,815) 
Net cash used in operating activities  (9,688,511) (91,361,794) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities:    
Interest received (net of withholding tax)  474,550 2,845,674 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3) (10,772,341) (19,098,798) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   50,000 8,700,000 
Purchase of intangible asset  (5) -                     (127,837) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (10,247,791) (7,680,961) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities:    
Proceeds from borrowings  508,654,918 259,750,000 
Repayment of borrowings  (391,739,932) (282,254,254) 
Repayment of other loan  -                    (10,000,000) 
Lease repayment   (1,444,757) (1,466,518) 
Dividends paid    -                    (28,947,369) 
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  115,470,229 (62,918,141) 
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  95,533,927 (161,960,896) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  (123,885,584) 38,075,312 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   (9) (28,351,657) (123,885,584) 
      
    
The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Position (The Company)                        
Year ended March 31, 2021      

 
 

Note 
 

2021 
 

2020 
               $   $ 
    
Assets    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment (3) 595,368,345 611,071,709 
Right of use asset  (4) 780,065 2,184,182 
Intangible assets (5) 544,182 1,157,886 
Investment in subsidiaries   121,500,000 -           
  718,192,592 614,413,777 
Current assets    
Inventories  (6) 729,321,501 571,600,120 
Trade and other receivables  (7) 385,528,463 529,404,611 
Prepayments  5,188,312 6,810,967 
Taxation recoverable (8) 2,350,718 2,340,447 
Cash and short-term deposits (9) 116,644,932 17,914,911 
  1,239,033,926 1,128,071,056 

Total assets  1,957,226,518 1,742,484,833 
    
Equity and liabilities      
Equity    
Share capital   (10) 107,835,764 107,835,764 
Revaluation reserve (11) 108,518,073 117,135,199 
Retained profits  616,316,286 608,787,503 
Total equity  832,670,123 833,758,466 
       
Liabilities    
Non-current liabilities    
Lease liabilities (4) -                       493,778 
Borrowings (13) 157,464,241 91,863,805 
Deferred tax liabilities  (14) 10,750,392 2,419,746 
  168,214,633 94,777,329 
Current liabilities     
Lease liabilities (4)   660,520 1,611,499 
Bank overdraft (9 & 15) 144,996,589 141,800,495 
Borrowings (13) 351,190,677 299,876,127 
Trade and other payables (16) 326,077,470 365,353,854 
Due on business acquisition   121,500,000 -            
Income tax payable   11,916,506 5,307,063 
  956,341,762 813,949,038 
Total liabilities  1,124,556,395 908,726,367 

Total equity and liabilities  1,957,226,518 1,742,484,833 
    

 The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on July 8, 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 
  
   
 
________________________ Director                            _____________________ Director 
  Winston Boothe Kurt Boothe 
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Statement of Financial Position (The Company)                        
Year ended March 31, 2021      

 
 

Note 
 

2021 
 

2020 
               $   $ 
    
Assets    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment (3) 595,368,345 611,071,709 
Right of use asset  (4) 780,065 2,184,182 
Intangible assets (5) 544,182 1,157,886 
Investment in subsidiaries   121,500,000 -           
  718,192,592 614,413,777 
Current assets    
Inventories  (6) 729,321,501 571,600,120 
Trade and other receivables  (7) 385,528,463 529,404,611 
Prepayments  5,188,312 6,810,967 
Taxation recoverable (8) 2,350,718 2,340,447 
Cash and short-term deposits (9) 116,644,932 17,914,911 
  1,239,033,926 1,128,071,056 

Total assets  1,957,226,518 1,742,484,833 
    
Equity and liabilities      
Equity    
Share capital   (10) 107,835,764 107,835,764 
Revaluation reserve (11) 108,518,073 117,135,199 
Retained profits  616,316,286 608,787,503 
Total equity  832,670,123 833,758,466 
       
Liabilities    
Non-current liabilities    
Lease liabilities (4) -                       493,778 
Borrowings (13) 157,464,241 91,863,805 
Deferred tax liabilities  (14) 10,750,392 2,419,746 
  168,214,633 94,777,329 
Current liabilities     
Lease liabilities (4)   660,520 1,611,499 
Bank overdraft (9 & 15) 144,996,589 141,800,495 
Borrowings (13) 351,190,677 299,876,127 
Trade and other payables (16) 326,077,470 365,353,854 
Due on business acquisition   121,500,000 -            
Income tax payable   11,916,506 5,307,063 
  956,341,762 813,949,038 
Total liabilities  1,124,556,395 908,726,367 

Total equity and liabilities  1,957,226,518 1,742,484,833 
    

 The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on July 8, 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 
  
   
 
________________________ Director                            _____________________ Director 
  Winston Boothe Kurt Boothe 
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Statement of Profit or Loss (The Company)                                                          
Year ended March 31, 2021   
 
 Note                2021              2020    
                    $                 $ 
    
Revenue  2,422,806,606 2,481,141,479 
    
Cost of sales  (18) (1,823,914,361) (1,922,211,921) 
    
Gross profit  598,892,245 558,929,558 
    
Other income (17) 5,215,620 5,645,110 
Administrative expenses  (18) (254,825,054) (244,240,744) 
Selling and promotional costs (18) (225,344,159) (184,651,373) 
Impairment of financial assets   (1,000,000) (7,594,269) 
Depreciation and amortisation (18) (28,493,524) (29,343,036) 
    
Operating profit  94,445,128 98,745,246 
    
Finance income (20) 484,818 2,848,993 
Finance costs (20) (70,085,966) (48,135,334) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   50,000 1,500,833 
Loss on foreign exchange  (11,042,237) (19,482,279) 
    
Profit before tax  13,851,743 35,477,459 
    
Income tax expense (22) (6,322,960) (920,775) 
    
Net profit for the year  7,528,783 34,556,684 
    
         
The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Other Comprehensive Income (The Company) 
Year ended March 31, 2021   
                         
   Note                2021              2020    
                    $                 $ 
    
Net profit for the year  7,528,783 34,558,684 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    
  Gains on revaluation of land and buildings (11) -        68,937,009 
  Deferred tax  (11) (8,617,126) -          
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year,                     
  net of tax  (8,617,126) 68,937,009 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (1,088,343) 103,493,693 
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Statement of Cash Flows (The Company)                                                                                                              
Year ended March 31, 2021     
 Note       2021 2020 
  $ $ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Profit before tax  13,851,743 35,477,459 
    
Adjustments for:    
   Depreciation and amortisation      28,493,524 29,343,036 
   Interest expense (20) 70,085,966 47,965,363 
   Interest income (20) (484,818) (2,848,993) 
   Gain on disposal of property, plant, and equipment  (50,000) (1,500,833) 
  111,896,415 108,436,032 
    
   (Increase)/decrease in inventories  (157,721,381) 76,355,212 
    Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables   143,876,148 (139,198,025) 
    Decrease in prepayments  1,622,657 3,810,042 
    Decrease in trade and other payables  (39,276,384) (89,347,401) 
Cash generated from/(used in) operations   60,397,455 (39,944,140) 
Interest paid  (70,085,966) (47,699,839) 
Income taxes paid  -                     (3,717,815) 
Net cash used in operating activities  (9,688,511) (91,361,794) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities:    
Interest received (net of withholding tax)  474,550 2,845,674 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3) (10,772,341) (19,098,798) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   50,000 8,700,000 
Purchase of intangible asset  (5) -                     (127,837) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (10,247,791) (7,680,961) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities:    
Proceeds from borrowings  508,654,918 259,750,000 
Repayment of borrowings  (391,739,932) (282,254,254) 
Repayment of other loan  -                    (10,000,000) 
Lease repayment   (1,444,757) (1,466,518) 
Dividends paid    -                    (28,947,369) 
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  115,470,229 (62,918,141) 
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  95,533,927 (161,960,896) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  (123,885,584) 38,075,312 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   (9) (28,351,657) (123,885,584) 
      
    
The notes on the accompanying pages form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements                                                                                        
Year ended March 31, 2021   
 

1.    Identification and principal activities 
Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited (the Company) is a limited liability company and was 
incorporated under the Laws of Jamaica on November 27, 1998. The Company is domiciled in Jamaica 
with registered offices located at 83 Hagley Park Road, Kingston 10, Jamaica. The main activity during 
the year was the sale of pharmaceutical, medical and other supplies. 
 
Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited is the parent company of Cornwall Enterprises Limited. The 
subsidiary is 60% owned by the Company. The Company and its subsidiary are referred to as the Group. 
 
The Company’s shares were listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange on                      
December 24, 2013.    
 
Subsidiary 
 
The subsidiary incorporated in Jamaica, with operating activities as follows: 
Company  Shareholdings  Main activities 
   

Cornwall Enterprises Limited 60% 
Retail and wholesale of Pharmaceutical, 
medical and other supplies 

   
The operation of the subsidiary has not commenced. 
 

 
2.    Summary of significant accounting policies  
 a Basis of preparation  

 
These consolidated and stand-alone financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain fixed and financial assets, 
investment properties and financial liabilities. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in               
Note 2t. 
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in the current 
year  

 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that 
became effective during the current financial year. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such 
new standards, interpretations and amendments and has put into effect the following: 
 
• Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of financial statements’ and IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, 

changes in accounting estimates and errors’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2020). These amendments clarify the definition of materiality and the meaning of primary 
users of general purpose financial statements by defining them as existing and potential investors, 
lenders and other creditors. The Group has applied the guidance on materiality when preparing its 
financial statements.
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies  
 a Basis of preparation (cont’d)  

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in the current 
year (cont’d) 
 
• IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2020). This amendment revises the definition of a business which requires an acquisition to include 
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create 
outputs. The definition of the term outputs is amended to focus on goods and services provided 
to customers, generating investment income and other income, and it excludes returns in the form 
of lower costs and other economic benefits. There was no impact from the adoption of this 
amendment. 

 
•  Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2020). The revised Conceptual Framework will be used in standard-setting 
decisions with immediate effect, however no changes will be made to any of the current accounting 
standards. Entities that apply the Conceptual Framework in determining accounting policies will 
need to consider whether their accounting policies are still appropriate under the revised 
Framework. There was no impact from the adoption of this amendment. 

 
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective 
and have not been early adopted by the Group and Company 

 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, interpretations and 
amendments to existing standards have been issued which are mandatory for the Group’s accounting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020, or later periods, but were not effective at the statement 
of financial position date. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, 
interpretations, and amendments, has determined that the following may be immediately relevant to 
its operations, and has concluded as follows: 
 
•  IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – Covid-19 related rent concessions (effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after June 1, 2020). As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, rent concessions have been granted 
to lessees. Such concessions might take a variety of forms, including payment holidays and deferral 
of lease payments. In May 2020, the IASB made an amendment to IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ which 
provides lessees with an option to treat qualifying rent concessions in the same way as they would 
if they were not lease modifications. In many cases, this will result in accounting for the concessions 
as variable lease payments in the period in which they are granted. The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of this amendment. 

 
•  Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2022). These amendments clarify that liabilities are classified as 
either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. 
Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date. The 
amendments also clarify what IAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. The 
Group is currently assessing the impact of this amendment. 
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies  
 a Basis of preparation (cont’d)  

 
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective 
and have not been early adopted by the Group and Company (cont’d) 
 
•  Amendment to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ (effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after January 1, 2022). This amendment prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an 
item of PP&E any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the 
asset for its intended use. Instead, the entity will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in 
profit or loss. It also clarifies that an entity is ‘testing whether the asset is functioning properly’ 
when it assesses the technical and physical performance of the asset. The financial performance of 
the asset is not relevant to this assessment. Entities must disclose separately the amounts of 
proceeds and costs relating to items produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary 
activities. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this amendment. 

 
•  Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2022). Minor amendments were made to update the references to the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting and add an exception for the recognition of liabilities and 
contingent liabilities within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets and Interpretation 21 Levies. The amendments also confirm that contingent assets should 
not be recognised at the acquisition date. The Group will apply this amendment to future 
transactions. 

 
•  Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022). This amendment specifies which costs a 
company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss making. It clarifies that the direct 
costs of fulfilling a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling the contract and an 
allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling contracts. Before recognising a separate 
provision for an onerous contract, the entity recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on 
assets used in fulfilling the contract. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this 
amendment. 

 
•  Annual improvements to IFRSs 2018 – 2020 cycles (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2022). These amendments include minor changes to the following standards: 
 

- IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ 
- IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ 
- IFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
- IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’ 

 
There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected 
to have a material impact on the Group. 
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 b Basis of consolidation  
 

(i) Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.  The Group has control over an entity 
when the Group is exposed to the variable returns from its ownership interest in the entity and 
when the Group can effect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group, and subsidiaries are 
de-consolidated from the date on which control ceases.  
 
All material intra-Group balances, transactions and gains are eliminated on consolidation.  
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.  
 
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting when control over entities and insurance 
businesses is obtained by the Group.  The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of 
the identifiable assets given, the equity instruments issued and the liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. 
 
The excess of the cost of the acquisition, the non-controlling interest recognised and the fair 
value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree, over the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If there is no excess and there is a shortfall, 
the Group reassesses the net identifiable assets acquired. If after reassessment, a shortfall 
remains, the acquisition is deemed to be a bargain purchase and the shortfall is recognised in 
income as a gain on acquisition. Any non-controlling interest balances represent the equity in a 
subsidiary not attributable to the Company’s interests.  
 
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises at the date of acquisition the 
components of any minority interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets. The latter option is only available if the minority 
interest component is entitled to a proportionate share of net identifiable assets of the acquiree 
in the event of liquidation.  
 
Non-controlling interest balances are subsequently re-measured by the minority’s proportionate 
share of changes in equity after the date of acquisition. Investments in subsidiaries are stated in 
the Company’s financial statements at cost less impairment.  

 
(ii) Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change in control 

 
 Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for 

as equity transactions – that is, as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. The 
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the 
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity, Gains or losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 b Basis of consolidation (cont’d)  

 
(iii) Associates  

 
The investments in associated companies, which are not majority-owned or controlled but 
where significant influence exists, are included in these consolidated financial statements under 
the equity method of accounting.  Investments in associated companies are originally recorded 
at cost and include intangible assets identified on acquisition.  
 
The Group recognises in income its share of associate companies’ post acquisition income and 
its share of the amortisation and impairment of intangible assets which were identified on 
acquisition. Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its associates are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. The Group recognises in other 
comprehensive income, its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income. 

 
(iv) Discontinued operations 

 
When the Group disposes of interest in an entity or a significant portion of the Company, the 
disclosure will reflect a single amount in the statement of comprehensive income comprising the 
total of: 

(i) the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations and 
(ii) the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or 

on the disposal of the assets or disposal Group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.  
 
The statement of comprehensive income shows a section identified as relating to discontinued 
operations; that is, separately from continuing operations.  

 
(v) Joint operation 

 
The Group recognises its investment in joint operation by accounting for its relevant share of 
the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations and its share of any jointly 
incurred assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses.  
 

c  Segment reporting 
 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of 
Directors that are used to make strategic decisions.  
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
d   Property, plant and equipment  

 
(i) Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost or fair value less accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses. 
 
Land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of 
revaluation less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Fair 
values are based on appraisals prepared by external professional valuators once every (3) years, 
or more frequently, if market factors indicate a material change in fair value. Any surplus arising 
on revaluation of land and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and credited 
to revaluation reserve in equity. To the extent that any decrease or impairment loss had 
previously been recognised in profit or loss, a revaluation increase is credited to profit or loss 
with the increase recognised in other comprehensive income.   
 
Downward revaluations of land and buildings are recognised upon revaluation or impairment 
testing, with the decrease being charged to other comprehensive income to the extent of any 
surplus in equity relating to this asset and any remaining decrease recognised in profit or loss.  
 

 (iii) Depreciation is charged on assets from the date of acquisition. 
 

                          Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis at such rates as will write off the cost of 
various assets over the period of their expected useful lives. 

 
  The following useful lives are applied: 
 
  Furniture, fixtures and equipment  10% – 20% 
  Computers  20%  
  Motor vehicles 20% 
  Buildings 2.5% 
 

(iv) Repairs and renewal 
   
  The costs of repairs and renewals which do not enhance the value of existing assets are written 

off to profit or loss as they are incurred. 
 
e Inventories 

 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on the average cost basis, and net realisable 
value.  Cost represents invoiced cost plus direct inventory related expenses; net realisable value is 
based upon estimated selling price less cost to sell. 
  

f Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue arises from the sale of goods. It is measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable, excluding General Consumption Tax, trade discounts or rebates.  

 
g Finance and other income 

 
Finance and other income comprise interest earned on short-term investments and miscellaneous 
income. Income is recognised on the basis of agreements in place or when it has been transferred to 
the third parties. 
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
h Foreign currency translation  
  
 Functional and presentation currency  

 The financial statements are prepared and presented in Jamaican dollars, which is the 
 functional currency of the Company. 
 

 Foreign currency translations and balances: 
 

(i) Foreign currency balances at the end of the reporting period have been translated at rates of 
exchange ruling at that date. 

  
(ii) Transactions in foreign currency are converted at rates of exchange ruling at the dates of those 

transactions. 
 
(iii) Gains/losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates are included in profit or loss.    

i    Cash and cash equivalents 
 

The above comprise cash on hand and demand deposits together with other short-term highly liquid 
investments maturing within ninety (90) days from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible 
in known amounts of cash and bank overdraft.  
 

j  Income tax 
 

Income tax on the results for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using the tax rate enacted 
at statement of financial position date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.  
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding 
basis used in the computation of taxable profit.  In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised 
for taxable differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which deductible temporary difference can be utilised.   
  
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability settled.  Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, except when it is related to items credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. 
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
k  Financial instruments 

Recognition and derecognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group or Company becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A 
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 
 
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are 
measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured 
at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 
 
Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into 
the following categories: 
•   amortised cost 
•   fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
•   fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 
In the periods presented, neither the Group nor Company had any financial assets categorised as 
FVOCI. 
 
The classification is determined by both: 
•   the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset 
•   the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented 
within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade 
receivables which is presented within other expenses. 

 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are 
not designated as FVTPL): 
•   they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and  
   collect its contractual cash flows. 

•   the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments  
   of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

 
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group and Company’s 
cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial 
instruments. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
 
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or hold to 
collect and sell are categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business 
model, financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest 
are accounted for at FVTPL.  
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
k  Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
The category also contains equity investments. The Group and Company accounts for these equity 
investments at FVTPL and did not make the irrevocable election to account for these equity 
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  
 
Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The 
fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions 
or using a valuation technique where no active market exists. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 
The Group and Company account for financial assets at FVOCI if the assets meet both of the 
following conditions: 
 
•   they are held under a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting the  
     contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets and 
•   the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of     
      principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
Any gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI). 
 

  Impairment of financial assets 
 
IFRS 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected 
credit losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. This replaces IAS 39’s ‘incurred loss model’. 
Instruments within the scope of the new requirements financial assets measured at amortised cost 
and FVOCI, trade receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under IFRS 15 and some 
financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Company first identifying a credit loss 
event. Instead, the Company considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and 
measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 
 
In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:  
•  financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 

recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and 
 
•   financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition 

and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 
 
•  ‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting 

date. 
 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected 
credit losses’ are recognised for the second category. 

 
Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.  
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
k  Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
Other receivables and contract assets 
 
The Group and Company makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for impairment of other 
receivables as well as contract assets and records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. 
These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at 
any point during the life of the financial instrument. In calculating, the Company uses its historical 
experience, external indicators, and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit 
losses using a provision matrix. 
 
The Group and Company assess impairment of other receivables on a collective basis as they possess 
shared credit risk characteristics and have been grouped based on the days past due.  
 
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
 
The Group and Company’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables. 
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction 
costs, unless the Group and Company designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
 
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently 
at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial 
instruments that are designated and effective as hedging instruments). 
 
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported 
in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 
 

l  Borrowings  
 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method. Any difference between 
the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for 
its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred 
and reported in finance costs.  
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
m   Impairment 

 
The Group and Company’s property, plant and equipment are subject to impairment testing. 
 
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested 
individually for impairment, and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.  
 
Individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets or cash-generating units carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting 
market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash flow 
evaluation. All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously 
recognised may no longer exist.    

 
         n   Intangible assets  

 
Certain relations and trade names acquired in a business combination that qualify for separate 
recognition are recognised as intangible assets at their fair values. 
 
All finite-lived intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model whereby capitalised costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Residual values and useful lives 
are reviewed at each reporting date. In addition, they are subject to impairment testing as described 
in Note 2(m). The following useful lives are applied: 
 
•   Acquired software: 5 years 
•   Customer relations: 7 years 
 
Trade name is carried at cost less amortised impairment losses. 
 
Subsequent expenditures on the maintenance of computer software are expensed as incurred. 

  
When an intangible asset is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal is determined as the difference 
between the proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss within 
other income or other expenses. 

 
 o  Equity, reserves and dividend payments 

 
Share capital is determined using the par value of shares that have been issued and any premiums 
received on the initial issuing of shares. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares 
are deducted from premiums received.   
 
Revaluation reserve comprises the accumulated surplus arising on the revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment. 
 
Retained profits include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the 
dividends have been approved by the shareholders prior to the reporting date. 
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 p Leases  

 
At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the 
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the 
initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Company, an estimate 
of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made 
in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received). 
 
The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. 
The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 
 
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is 
readily available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be 
exercised. 
 

 q Operating expenses  
 
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of 
their origin. Expenditure for warranties is recognised and charged against the associated provision 
when the related revenue is recognised.  

 
        r Interest income and expense  
 

 Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on an accrual 
basis using the effective interest method. 

 
 s Short-term employee benefits  
 

Short-term employee benefits including holiday entitlement are current liabilities included in accruals, 
measured at the undiscounted amount that the Company expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement. 
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2.    Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
       t Use of estimates and judgments 

  
Information about estimates and assumptions that may have the most significant effect on 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual 
results may be substantially different. 
 
These estimates are based on historical experience and management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions.  Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 
 
There were no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimation, that management has made 
in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
 
The estimates and assumptions which have the most significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are discussed below. 

 
(i) Useful lives of depreciable assets 
 
 Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, 

based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technological 
obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment. 

 
 (ii) Fair value measurement 

 
 Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments 

(where active market quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing 
estimates and assumptions consistent with how market participants would price the instrument. 
Management basis its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always 
available. In that case, management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values 
may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the 
reporting date.   
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4.  Leases (The Group and Company) 
The Group leased premises at 85 Hagley Park Road, for a period of 28 months with an option to 
renew. 

 Information about the lease for which the Group is a lessee is presented below: 

     (a)   Right of use asset  
              2021 2020 
   $ $ 
   
Balance at April 1, 2020 2,184,182 3,276,273 
Amortisation charged for the year (1,404,117) (1,092,091) 

Balance at March 31, 2021 780,065 2,184,182 
   

 
    (b)  Lease liabilities 

  2021  2020 
 $ $ 
   
Maturity analysis – contractual    
Current 660,520 1,611,499 
Non-current                      -            493,778 
 660,520 2,105,277 
   

   
  2021 2020 
 $ $ 
   
Balance at April 1,  2,105,277 1,760,445 
Lease payment (1,289,674) 539,417 
Interest expense (155,083) (194,585) 

Balance at March 31,  660,520 2,105,277 
   

 
    (c)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

  2021 2020 
 $ $ 
   
Amortisation charged on right-of-use asset 1,404,117 1,092,091 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 155,083 295,524 

 1,559,200 1,387,615 
   

 
    (d)  Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flow 

            2021 2020 
 $ $ 
   
Total cash outflow for lease 1,444,757 1,466,518 
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5.  Intangible assets (The Group) 
Details of intangible assets and their carrying amounts are as follows:  

  

Customer 
relations and 
trade name 

 
Acquired  
Software 

 
  

Total  
 $ $     $ 
    
Gross carrying amount    
Balance at April 1, 2020 -       8,277,694 8,277,694 
Acquired on business acquisition  32,879,000 -        32,879,000 
Balance at March 31, 2021 32,879,000 8,277,694 41,156,694 
    
Amortisation      
Balance at April 1, 2020 -       (7,119,808) (7,119,808) 
Charge for the year -       (613,704) (613,704) 
Balance at March 31, 2021 -       (7,733,512) (7,733,512) 
Carrying amount at March 31, 2021 32,879,000 544,182 33,423,182 
    

         

  
Acquired  
Software 

  
Total  

 $     $ 
   
Gross carrying amount   
Balance at April 1, 2019 8,149,857 8,149,857 
Addition 127,837 127,837 
Balance at March 31, 2020 8,277,694 8,277,694 
   
Amortisation     
Balance at April 1, 2019 (6,357,544) (6,357,544) 
Charge for the year (762,264) (762,264) 
Balance at March 31, 2020 (7,119,808) (7,119,808) 
Carrying amount at March 31, 2020 1,157,886 1,157,886 
   

 

6.    Inventories                                                The Group                          The Company 
  2021 2020          2021 2020 
 $ $  $               $ 
     
     
Pharmaceuticals  485,233,723 356,061,992 360,752,723 356,061,992 
Medical and other supplies 259,920,705 190,229,988 259,920,705 190,229,988 
Goods in transit  116,766,352 40,287,318 116,966,352 40,287,318 
 862,120,780 586,579,298 737,639,780 586,579,298 
     
Less provision  (8,318,279) (14,979,178) (8,318,279) (14,979,178) 

Total  853,802,501 571,600,120 729,321,501 571,600,120 
 
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was $1,823,914,361                                            
(2020 -$1,922,211,921). This includes $22,412,217 (2020 – 22,637,218) in respect of expired items and 
write-downs to net realisable value.  
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7. Trade and other receivables                 The Group                           The Company  
  2021 2020          2021 2020 
               $ $               $               $ 
     
Trade 404,892,838 460,294,667 333,031,838 460,294,667 
Less:  Allowance for expected credit loss  (7,211,917) (9,765,606) (7,211,917) (9,765,606) 
 397,680,921 450,529,061 325,819,921 450,529,061 
Other 59,708,542 78,875,550 59,708,542 78,875,550 

Total 457,389,463 529,404,611 385,528,463 529,404,611 
 
The average credit period on sale of goods is 30 – 60 days. The Group provides for approximately 100% 
of trade receivables over 365 days.  
 

          The age of trade receivables and other receivables past due but not impaired is as follows: 
 
                                                                             The Group                         The Company 

   2021 2020 2021 2020 
 $ $ $   $ 
     
Not more than 3 months 337,729,404 301,453,237 289,945,888 301,453,237 
More than 3 months but not more than  
6 months 

 
38,340,976 116,457,384 29,123,299 116,457,384 

More than 6 months but not more than  
1 year 

 
21,611,541 22,733,839 6,750,734 22,733,839 

More than 1 year -                9,884,601 -                 9,884,601 
Total  397,681,921 450,529,061 325,819,921 450,529,061 
     
 

 
8. Taxation recoverable (The Group and Company) 

This represents withholding tax recoverable that is still being pursued by management.   
 
 
9. Cash and short-term deposit (The Group and Company) 

  Interest Rate   2021   2020 
 % p.a.   $      $ 
    
Cash and short-term deposits:    
Bank and cash:     
  Petty Cash   176,563 101,000 
  - J$ Current account  21,420,731 12,978,655 
  - US$ Savings account (US$655,078)    
       (2020 – US$ 31,884)) 0.01 – 0.05 94,907,745 4,661,161 
  Sterling savings account (£95)                       
     (2020 - £321)) 

       
           0.05 18,933 53,135 

Cash at bank and in hand  116,523,972 17,793,951 
    
Short-term deposits  2.0 - 2.85 120,960 120,960 
Total cash and short-term deposits                            116,644,932 17,914,911 
Less:  Bank overdraft (Note 15)  (144,996,589) (141,800,495) 

Total cash and cash equivalents   (28,351,657) (123,885,584) 
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10.    Share capital (The Group and Company) 
 2021 2020 
 $               $ 
   
Authorised:   
408,000,000 ordinary shares   
   
Issued shares at no par value   
     263,157,895 ordinary shares 107,835,764 107,835,764   
   

 
11. Revaluation reserve (The Group and Company) 

This represents revaluation surplus arising on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.   
 2021 2020 
 $                $ 
   
Balance at April 1  117,135,199 48,198,190 
Deferred tax related to revaluation (8,617,126) -          
Surplus arising on revaluation of land and buildings -                      68,937,009 

Balance at end of the year 108,518,073 117,135,199 

   
 
12. Due on business acquisition (Group and Company) 

 2021 
 $ 
  
  
Current  121,500,000 
Non-current  31,098,000 

 152,598,000 
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13. Borrowings (The Group and Company) 
  2021    2020 
 $    $ 
   
(a) Bank of Nova Scotia (BNS):   
     Non-revolving loans  -         131,989,932 
      Revolving loan -         259,750,000 
   
(b) National Commercial Bank (NCB):   
      Revolving loan 350,000,000 -          
      Amortising loan facility 141,500,000 -          
   
(c) Sagicor Bank of Jamaica   
      Demand loan 17,154,918 -          
 508,654,918 391,739,932 
Current portion (351,190,677)         (299,876,127) 
Non-current  157,464,241          91,863,805 
    
(a) Bank of Nova Scotia (BNS) 
 Non-revolving loans  

 
• A loan of $200 million was received January 2, 2015 towards the purchase of commercial real  

estate. The loan was for a period of sixty (60) months with twelve (12) months moratorium 
on principal payments. Interest was fixed at a rate of 7% per annum. 

 
• Loans of $25,000,000 and $36,870,000 were received July 2016. They were repayable by fifty-

nine (59) monthly payments of $208,330 and $307,250 respectively plus a final payment of 
$12,708,530 and $18,742,250, respectively. Interests on the loans were 4.764% and 7% per 
annum respectively. 

 
Revolving loans 
 
The revolving loan facility with Bank of Nova Scotia (BNS), bears interest rates between 6.5% and 
7% per annum.  

 
The loans and overdraft were secured by:  

  
Demand debenture over fixed assets of the Group, collaterally stamped and supported by:  
 
• First and second Legal Mortgages stamped an aggregate collateral to Debenture over 

commercial properties of units #25, 26 and 27, located at 85 Hagley Park Road, Kingston 
10, registered at Volume 1327 Folios 620 and 621 and Volume 1312 and Folio 165 in the 
name of Medical Disposables and Supplies Limited and having an appraised value of 
$80,000,000. 

 
• First to third Legal Mortgage over commercial property located at 83 Hagley Park Road, 

Kingston 10 registered at Volume 1066 Folio 337 and 338 appraised May 24, 2017.  
 

Assignment of All Risk Peril Insurance policy over the assets of the Group.  
 
These loans were repaid during the year. 
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13. Borrowings (The Group and Company) (cont’d) 
(b) National Commercial Bank (NCB) 

 
• A loan of $141,500,000, was received July 29, 2020. The loan is repayable by one hundred and 

twenty (120) monthly instalments of $1,606,704. Interest on the loan is 5.95% respectively.  
 

• A revolving loan facility $400,000,000 was received during the year with interest of 6.115% per 
annum. The loan matures within six (6) months of the loan drawn down date.  

                    
The loans and overdraft are secured by: 
 
Debenture over fixed and floating assets of the Group, collaterally stamped and supported by: 

 
• First Legal Mortgage over commercial property registered by Volume 1,327 folios 620 & 621 

and Volume 1312 folio 165 located at Units 25, 26 & 27 The Domes, 85 Hagley Park Road, 
Kingston 10 in the parish of St. Andrew in the name of Medical Disposables and Supplies 
Limited with a current market value of $420,000,000. 

 
• Assignment of All Risk Peril Insurance policy over the assets of the Group. 
 

(c) Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited 
 
A demand loan of $17,500,000 was received on December 23, 2020. The loan is repayable by one 
hundred and twenty (120) monthly instalments of $207, 925. Interest on the loan is 7.85%. 
 
The loan is secured by: 

 
• First Demand Mortgage over commercial property located at 4 Carpenter Road, Kingston 11 

registered at Volume 1194 Folio 596 in the name of Medical Disposables and Supplies Limited 
STC: JMD$17,250,000. 

 
 

14. Deferred tax liabilities (The Group and Company) 
Deferred tax balance arose on temporary differences in respect of the following: 
  2021 2020 
 $  $ 
   
Property, plant, and equipment 21,710,392 2,419,746 
   
 
Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 25%. 
The movement on the deferred tax is as follows:  
 2021 2020   2021     2020 
 $ $    $         $ 
     
Balance at beginning of year 2,419,746 6,836,034 2,419,746 6,836,034 
Recognised in business acquisition  10,960,000    
Credit to tax expense (Note 22) (286,480) (4,416,288) (286,480) (4,416,288) 
Deferred tax liabilities related to revaluation 
(Note 11) 

 
8,617,126 -            8,617,126 -            

Deferred tax liability  21,710,392 2,419,746 10,750,392 2,419,746 
 



20
21

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t -
 M

ed
ic

al
 D

is
po

sa
bl

es
 &

 S
up

pl
ie

s 
Li

m
ite

d 
- A

ud
ut

ed
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
ts

88    
Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements                                                                
Year ended March 31, 2021   
 

  36 

 
 

15. Bank overdraft (The Group and Company) 
(i) The Group and Company have an overdraft facility of $130,000,000 with Sagicor Bank Limited at a 

rate of 8.5% per annum. The facility is unsecured. 
 
(ii)  The Group and Company have an overdraft facility of $200,000,000 with National Commercial Bank 

at a rate of 9.5% per annum. The facility is unsecured.  
 

16. Trade and other payables            The Group                           The Company 
   2021 2020 2021 2020 
 $ $ $     $ 
     
Trade 341,257,188 290,198,574 235,759,188 290,198,574 
Accruals 35,259,553 19,056,468 25,305,553 19,056,468 
Other  55,058,729 56,098,812 55,058,729 56,098,812 

Total 431,575,470 365,353,854 316,123,470 365,353,854 
 
All amounts are short-term and the carrying value is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

 
 
17.    Other income (The Group and Company) 

   2021 2020 
 $  $ 
   
Warehousing service fee 5,215,620 5,645,110 
   
 
The Company has a Warehousing Service Agreement with a supplier to provide warehousing and other 
ancillary services. 
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18. Expenses by nature (The Group and Company) 
Total direct, administrative and other operating expenses: 

  2021 2020 
 $              $ 
   
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 1,823,914,361 1,922,211,921 
   
Administrative and other expenses   
Directors’ remuneration      23,441,595       25,568,595 
Directors’ fees  2,407,500 1,945,000 
Salaries, wages and related expenses (Note 19) 86,771,001 76,345,738 
Medical and other staff benefits (Note 19) 10,384,202 12,296,133 
Insurance 14,378,611 16,447,601 
Legal and professional fees 25,734,932 16,370,678 
Motor vehicle expenses 4,557,641 6,531,275 
Auditors’ remuneration  2,500,000 2,836,775 
Utilities 25,355,255 17,608,609 
Printing and stationery 7,197,523 7,249,391 
Donations 8,443,332 5,395,337 
Security 6,908,352 8,216,619 
Bank charges 9,874,850 10,379,619 
Other administrative expenses     26,870,260     37,049,374 
 254,825,054 244,240,744 
   
Selling and promotional costs   
Salaries, wages and related expenses (Note 19) 87,403,182 76,697,372 
Travel and accommodation 1,199,420 3,195,503 
Postage and courier service  43,156,124 30,922,287 
Advertising and promotion 28,321,033 16,810,406 
Commission  65,264,400 57,025,805 

 225,344,159 184,651,373 
   
Depreciation and amortisation   
Depreciation 26,475,703 27,488,682 
Amortisation - intangible asset 613,704 762,263 
                     - right of use asset 1,404,117 1,092,091 

 28,493,524 29,343,036 
   

 

19. Employee benefits (The Group and Company) 

The average number of employees at year-end was seventy-six (76), (2020 –seventy-one (71). 
 

 

  2021 2020 
 $  $ 
   
Salaries, wages and related expenses   
  - Administrative and other expenses       86,771,001           76,345,738 
  - Selling and promotional costs  87,403,182 76,697,372 
Medical and other staff benefits 10,384,202 12,296,133 

Total  184,558,385 165,339,243 
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20. Finance income and finance cost (The Group and Company) 
Finance income comprises: 
  2021 2020 
 $  $ 
   
Interest income on financial assets measured at amortised cost 484,818 2,848,993 

Total 484,818 2,848,993 
   
Finance cost comprises: 
  2021 2020 
 $        $ 
   
Interest expense for borrowings measured at amortised cost 69,930,883 47,839,810 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 155,083 295,524 

Total  70,085,966 48,135,334 

 

21. Gain arising on business combination  
Effective March 30, 2021 Cornwall Enterprises Limited (CEL), a subsidiary of Medical Disposables & 
Supplies Limited (MDS) acquired the assets and liabilities of Cornwall Medical and Dental Supplies 
Limited whose main activities were selling and distribution of medical and dental supplies and also 
operated registered pharmacies. In accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combination, the transaction was 
deemed to be a business combination as the assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business. 
Cornwall Enterprises Limited was identified as the acquirer as prescribed by IFRS 3 qualifying factors. 
The acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, measured at fair 
value was $348,034,000. The purchase consideration was $274, 989,000. 
 
This resulted in a bargain purchase of $62,085,000. The resulting gain was recognised in profit or loss on 
acquisition date.  
 
Details of the identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities assumed purchased consideration as follows: 

 
         Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities. 

     
 $ 
  
Property, plant and equipment 224,311,000 
Intangible assets 32,879,000 
Inventories  124,481,000 
Trade and other receivable 71,861,000 
Trade and other payables  (105,498,000) 
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (before deferred tax) 348,034,000 
Purchase consideration   (274,989,000) 
 73,045,000 
  
Deferred tax liability arising from business acquisition  (10,960,000) 

 62,085,000 
  
In accordance with IAS 12 income taxes, the resulting deferred tax liability decreased the amount of 
bargain purchase gain recognised. 
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22. Income tax (The Group and Company) 
The Company’s shares were listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange on December 
24, 2013.  As a result, the Group is entitled to a remission of taxes for an allowable period not exceeding 
ten (10) years from the date of the listing on the JSE Junior Market provided the shares remain listed for 
at least fifteen (15) years. The remissions of taxes are applicable as follows: 
 
Years 1 to 5 100% 
Years 6 to 10 50% 
 
The Group is in its seventh year since being listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
and is now subject to fifty percent (50%) tax remission up to December 24, 2023.  

  
i    Income tax adjusted for tax purposes and computed at the tax rate of 12.5% comprise: 

  2021 2020 
 $  $ 
   
Current tax expense  (6,036,480) 5,337,063 
Deferred tax credit (Note 14) (286,480) (4,416,288) 

Total  (6,322,960) 920,775 
 
 ii  Reconciliation of theoretical tax charge to effective tax charge: 

  2021 2020 
 $              $ 
   
Profit before tax 13,851,743 35,477,459 

   
Tax at the applicable rate of 25% 3,462,936 8,869,365 
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 7,371,267 9,013,335 
Tax effect of income not subject to tax (15,892,689) (375,208) 
Tax effect of allowable capital allowances and other charges (7,300,954) (11,279,654) 
Remission of tax 6,036,480 (5,307,063) 

Income tax expense for the year  (6,322,960) 920,775 

 
 
23. Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.  
   2021 2020 
 $ $ 
   
Net profit attributable to owners  69,613,783 34,556,684 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding  263,157,895 263,157,895 
Basic earnings per share 0.26 0.13 
   

 
24.    Dividends  

The Group did not declare a dividend for the year ended March 31, 2021. A dividend of $0.11 per share 
was declared in the prior year. 
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25.    Segment reporting (The Group and Company) 
Segment information by divisions are as follows:  
  Pharmaceutical Medical  Consumer  Total  
 $    $    $     $ 
     
Revenue 1,810,602,230 436,190,443 176,013,933 2,422,806,606 
Less: Cost of sales   (1,332,397,706) (339,278,888) (152,237,767) (1,823,914,361) 

Gross profit 478,204,524 96,911,555 23,776,166    598,892,245  

 
 
26. Related party balances and transactions (The Group and Company) 

i The statement of financial position includes balances arising in the normal course of business, with 
related parties as follows: 
  2021 2020 
 $               $ 
   
Included in trade and other receivables 17,086,037       1,554,639  
Included in trade and other payables  32,266,334 10,133,677 
    

ii  Transactions with key management personnel 
 
  Transactions with key management includes renumeration for executive members of the board.   

   2021 2020 
 $               $ 
   
Short-term employee benefits –   
    Salaries including bonuses 23,441,595 24,568,595 

Total  23,441,995 24,568,595 
    

iii The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes transactions with 
companies controlled by Directors, and other key management personnel.   
     2021 2020 
 $               $ 
   
Sales  42,059,131 13,164,263 
Purchases  119,888,994 54,037,998 
Directors' fees 2,407,500 1,945,000 

 
 

 

 

 



20
21

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t -
 M

ed
ic

al
 D

is
po

sa
bl

es
 &

 S
up

pl
ie

s 
Li

m
ite

d 
- A

ud
ut

ed
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
ts

93   
Medical Disposables & Supplies Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements                                                                
Year ended March 31, 2021   
 

  41 

 
 

 
27.    Risk management policies 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks in respect of its financial instruments: market 
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group seeks 
to manage these risks by close monitoring of each class of its financial instruments as follows:  

a Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial 
instruments and specifically to currency risk, interest rate risk and certain other price risk, which result 
from both its operating and investing activities.   
 
i Currency risk 

 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

  
The Group is exposed to currency risk due to fluctuations in exchange rates on transactions and 
balances that are denominated in currencies other than the Jamaican Dollar. Foreign currency 
bank accounts denominated in United States Dollars (US$) is maintained to minimise this risk. 

 
Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities which expose the Group to currency 
risk are described below. The amounts shown are those reported to key management translated 
into J$ at the closing rate.  

 
Concentrations of currency risk 
  2021 2020 
 US$ US$ 
   
Financial assets   
-  Cash and cash equivalents 665,078 31,884 
 665,078 31,884 
   
Financial liabilities   
-  Trade payables (1,107,481) (855,450) 
 (1,107,481) (855,450) 

Total net assets/liabilities 442,403 (823,566) 
   
 
The above assets/(liabilities) are receivable/payable in United States dollars (US$) and Jamaican 
Dollars (J$). The exchange rate applicable at the end of the reporting period is J$144.88 to US$1 
(2021 – J$133.93 to US$1).   
 

  Foreign currency sensitivity 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year end and equity with 
regards to the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities and US Dollar to Jamaican (JA) 
Dollar exchange rate. Only movements between the Jamaican Dollar and US Dollar are 
considered, as these are the two major currencies of the Group. 
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27.    Risk management policies (cont’d) 
a    Market risk (cont’d) 

 
i Currency risk (cont’d) 

 
The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s United States Dollar financial instruments at the 
date of the statement of financial position. 
 
Effect on results of the operations: 
 
If the JA Dollar weakens by 6% (2020 – 6%) against the US Dollar then this would have the 
effect of the amounts shown below on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 
  Rate Weakens 
 %   $ 
   
2021 6 (1,787,941) 
2020 6 (4,412,006) 
   
  
If the JA Dollar strengthens against the US Dollar by 2% (2020 – 2%) this would have the      
following impact: 
  Rate Strengthens 
 %   $ 
   
2021 2 893,970 
2020 2 2,206,003 
   

  
   ii     Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are 
subject to interest rate risk. However, the Group attempts to manage this risk by monitoring its 
interest-bearing instruments closely and procuring the most advantageous rates under contracts 
with interest rates that are fixed for the life of the contract, where possible. 

 
The Group invests excess cash in short-term deposits and maintains interest-earning bank 
accounts with licensed financial institutions. Short-term deposits are invested for three (3) 
months or less at fixed interest rates and are not affected by fluctuations in market interest rates 
up to the dates of maturity. Interest rates on interest-earning bank accounts are not fixed but are 
subject to fluctuations based on prevailing market rates.   
 
Interest rate sensitivity 

 
Interest rates on the Group’s short-term deposits and loans are fixed up to the date of maturity 
and interest rates for a period of twenty-four (24) months expiring at varying dates beginning 
April 30, 2018. As such there would be no impact on the results of the Group’s operations as a 
result of fluctuations in interest rates. 
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26.    Risk management policies (cont’d) 

   a    Market risk (cont’d) 
 
iii  Other price risk 
 

Other price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 
instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Group’s 
financial instruments are substantially independent of changes in market prices as they are short-
term in nature. 
 

b Credit risk  
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counter party fails to discharge an obligation to the Group.  The Group 
is exposed to credit risk from financial assets including cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade 
and other receivables.  

 
Credit risk management  
 
The credit risk in respect of cash balances held with banks and deposits with banks are managed via 
diversification of bank deposits and are only with reputable financial institutions.  

 
  The Group continuously monitors the credit quality of its customers. The Group’s policy is to deal 

with only credit worthy counterparties. The credit terms range between 15 and 30 days. The credit 
terms for customers are subject to an internal approval process which considers the credit rating 
scorecard. The on going credit risk is managed through regular review of aging analysis together with 
credit limit per customer. 

 
 Trade receivables consists of a large number of customers. The Group does not require collateral or 

other credit enhancements in respect of its trade and other receivables.  
 
  The maximum credit risk faced by the Group is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets 

recognised at the end of the reporting period, as summarised below: 
 
                                                                                The Group            The Company 

  2021 2020 2021 2020 
 $  $   $ 
     
Trade and other receivables 457,389,463 529,404,611 385,528,463 529,404,611 
Cash and cash equivalents 116,644,932 17,914,911 116,644,932 17,914,911 

Total  574,034,395 547,319,522 502,173,395 547,319,522 
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27.    Risk management policies (cont’d) 
b   Credit risk (cont’d) 

 
Trade receivables 
 
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime estimated credit losses, for 
all trade receivables as these items do not have significant financing component. In measuring the 
expected credit losses, the trade receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess 
shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due.    
The expected loss rates are based on the payment profile for sales over the last 24 months as well as 
the corresponding historical losses during the period. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect 
forward looking macro-economic factors affecting the customers’ ability to settle the amount 
outstanding.  
 
The Group has identified gross domestic product (GDP) and inflation rates to be the most relevant 
factors and accordingly adjusts historical loss rates for expected changes in these factors.  
 
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, failure to make 
payments within 365 days from the invoice date and failure to engage with the Group on alternative 
payment arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no reasonable expectation of 
recovery.  
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27.    Risk management policies (cont’d) 
b   Credit risk (cont’d) 

 Trade receivables (cont’d) 
 
The closing balance of the trade and other receivables as at March 31, 2021 reconciles with the trade 
receivables loss allowance opening balance as follows:  
  2021 2020 
 $   $ 
   
Opening loss allowance at April 1, 2020 9,765,606 12,206,445 
   
Receivables written-off during the year (3,553,689) (9,428,400) 
Receivables recovered the during the year  -                      (606,708) 
Loss allowance recognised during the year 1,000,000 7,594,269 

 7,211,917 9,765,606 
   

c Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting its commitments associated 
with financial liabilities. 

 
The Group manages its liquidity risk by carefully monitoring its cash outflow needs for day-to-day 
business and maintaining an appropriate level of resources in liquid or near liquid form to meet its 
needs.  The Group maintains cash and short-term deposits for up to three months or less to meet its 
liquidity requirements.   
 
As at March 31, 2021, the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities have contractual maturities 
(including interest payments where applicable) as summarised below:  
 
The Group 

    

Current 
Within 

12 Months 

Non-current 
2 to 5  
Years 

                  $                $ 
   
Lease Liabilities 660,520 -          
Borrowings  385,860,703                 140,367,887 
Bank overdraft 144,996,589 -                      
Trade and other payables 431,575,474                 - 
Total 963,093,286    140,367,887         
 
The Company 

    

Current 
Within 

12 Months 

Non-current 
2 to 5  
Years 

                  $                $ 
   
Lease Liabilities 660,520 -          
Borrowings  385,860,703                 140,367,887 
Bank overdraft 144,996,589 -                      
Trade and other payables 326,077,470                 - 
Total 857,595,282       140,367,887 
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27.    Risk management policies (cont’d) 
c    Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ from the carrying 
values of the liabilities at the end of the reporting period. 

 
This compares to the maturity of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities in the previous 
reporting period as follows: 

       
 The Group and Company 

    

Current 
Within 

12 Months 

Non-current 
2 to 5  
Years 

             $                     $ 
   
Lease liability 1,611,499 493,778 
Borrowings  40,126,127 91,863,805 
Bank overdraft 141,817,495 -                  
Short-term borrowings  259,750,000 -                  
Trade and other payables 365,353,854                 -                                                                                                               
Total 808,658,975 92,357,583 

 

28.   Fair value measurement  
i The Group’s financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised costs, and the fair values for 

these are disclosed at Note 28(ii).  
 
ii Fair value of non-financial assets 

 
The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis at March 31, 2021. 

March 31, 2021 
 

Level 1 
 

Level 2 
        

        Level 3  
 

         Total 
 $       $       $ $ 
     
Property, plant and equipment                
  Land and buildings -        -         731,613,166 731,613,166 

Total -        -         731,613,166 731,613,166 
     

 

March 31, 2020 
 

Level 1 
 

Level 2 
        

        Level 3  
 

         Total 
 $       $       $ $ 
     
Property, plant and equipment     
  Land and buildings -        -        538,307,971 538,307,971 

Total -        -        538,307,971 538,307,971 
     
Land and buildings (Level 3). 

 
Fair value of the Group’s land and buildings was estimated based on an appraisal by a professionally 
qualified valuator. The significant inputs and assumptions were developed in close consultation with 
management.  
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28.   Fair value measurement (cont’d) 
ii Fair value of non-financial assets (cont’d) 

 
The appraisal was carried out using a market approach that reflects observed prices for market 
transactions and incorporates adjustments for factors specific to the Group’s property, including 
size, location, encumbrances, and current use of the property. 
 
Land and buildings at 83 and 85 Hagley Park Road, Kingston 10 were revalued on February 25, 2020, 
February 27, 2020, and February 29, 2020, respectively.   

 
Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the Company’s land and buildings: 
  2021 
 $ 
  
Balance at April 1, 2021 538,307,971 
Addition 7,552,791 
Acquired on business acquisition 195,909,000 
Depreciation (10,156,596) 
Balance at March 31, 2021 535,704,166 

 
 

29. Capital management, policies and procedures 
The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure its ability to continue as a going concern and 
to sustain future development of the business. The Group’s Board of Directors review the financial 
position of the Group at regular meetings.  

  
There was no change to the Group’s approach to capital management polices during the year. 
 

30.   Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic 
In March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) to be a 
Global Pandemic. Consequently, Jamaica’s borders were closed, and movement of the people was 
controlled to minimise the spread of the disease. The Government implemented curfews and shuttered 
businesses. This resulted in reduced business activity and demand for goods and services, particularly the 
demand for non-essentials products. Fortunately for Medical Disposable and Supplies Limited, there was 
an increase in the demand for pharmaceuticals, especially medication for the treatment of lifestyle diseases 
such as hypertension and diabetes. 
 
The first quarter was particularly harsh on business, but the Group started to realise a turn-around by the 
end of the second quarter. By end of the financial year, sales across the Group had normalised and, in 
some cases, outpaced previous performance. With the continued inoculation of the population, there is 
more optimism for a return to normalcy in the medium term. 
 
Management continues to closely monitor the situation and adhere to the various government protocols 
and advice. 

 
31. Subsequent event 

The Company was approved for a loan of $121.5 million by National Commercial Bank Limited to assist 
with the acquisition of Cornwall Enterprises Limited (Note 21). The proceeds of the loan were received 
on April 4, 2021. 
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Form of Proxy

I/We	 _____________________________________________________________________ [insert name] 

of	 _____________________________________________________________________ [address]

being a shareholder(s) of the above-named Company, hereby appoint:

____________________________________________________________________________ [proxy name]

of	 _____________________________________________________________________ [address]

or failing him, ________________________________________________________________ [alternate proxy] 

of	 _____________________________________________________________________ [address]

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held 
virtually at 10:00 a.m. on the 05th day of October 2021 and at any adjournment thereof. 

This Form is to be used as instructed. Unless otherwise instructed, the Proxy Form will be used as he/she thinks fit. 
Please tick appropriate box.

Signed this     ______________ day of _____________________________________ 2021

Print Name:   ________________________________________Signature:________________________________	

RESOLUTIONS                                         FOR                          AGAINST

Place  stamp here

Ordinary Resolution 1 

Ordinary Resolution 2

Ordinary Resolution 3

Ordinary Resolution 4

Ordinary Resolution 5

Ordinary Resolution 6

1.	When completed, this Form of Proxy must be received by 
the Registrar of the Company, Jamaica Central Securities 
Depository, 40 Harbour Street, Kingston, Jamaica, W.I. not 
less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding 
the meeting.

2.	The Proxy Form should bear stamp duty of $100.00 which 
may be adhesive and duly cancelled by the persons 
signing the proxy form.

3.   If the appointer is a Corporation, this Form of Proxy must 
be executed under its common seal or under the hand of 
an officer or attorney duly authorised in writing. 

ordinary Resolutions Notes:



Notes
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Resilience is 
when you 

address 
uncertainty 

with 
flexibility


